

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Nursing Faculty Perspectives on Support in Technology, Learning Management Systems, and Self-efficacy

Diane Burling *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the Instructional Media Design Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Diane Burling

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Sharon Smaldino, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Heather Pederson, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Paula Dawidowicz, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2018

Abstract

Nursing Faculty Perspectives on Support in Technology, Learning Management Systems,

and Self-efficacy

by

Diane Burling

MA, Walden University, 2007

BS, West Chester University, 2004

Proposal Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Education

Walden University

February 2018

Abstract

Past literature has shown that nursing programs reported educators were at the novice or beginner level regarding use of technology and that there was a critical need for faculty development. There was a lack of current information on the perspectives of nurse faculty utilizing learning management systems. Learning management systems are being used within nursing education, faculty should be proficient implementing the technology, if not, students and faculty suffer. The purpose of this study was to understand how nursing faculty perceive the use and support for integrated online Learning Management System (LMS) technology, along with levels of self-efficacy, at the institution in which they work. The Bandura self-efficacy conceptual framework was used to explore nursing faculty perspectives on the use of LMS technology. A case study approach was used for this study to aid in identifying the perspective of nursing educators who have utilized LMS technology. Participants included 8 nursing faculty from 3 Southeastern Pennsylvania nursing program. Data sources consisted of online survey questions and telephone interviews. Survey data results were analyzed by means of central tendency. Transcriptions of interviews were analyzed using NVivo software for coding and identification of themes and patterns. The results revealed that nursing faculty did not seem to like their LMS platform; however, the majority of the faculty did consider the LMSs useful in providing materials to students and for posting grades, although faculty stated a desire for additional training and regular workshops on using LMSs. This research can contribute to positive social change by assisting stakeholders in best implementation of LMSs in student instructional practices.

Nursing Faculty Perspectives on Support in Technology, Learning Management Systems,

and Self-efficacy

by

Diane Burling

MA, Walden University, 2007

BS, West Chester University, 2004

Proposal Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Education

Walden University

February 2018

Dedication

My work is dedicated to the many family, friends, and faculty that have provided support throughout the years. Thank you.

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of the Study	7
Research Questions	7
Conceptual Framework	7
Nature of the Study	9
Definitions	10
Assumptions	10
Scope and Delimitations	11
Limitations	11
Significance	12
Summary and Conclusions	12
Chapter 2: Literature Review	14
Introduction	14
Literature Search Strategy	14
Theoretical Foundation	16
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts	17
Faculty Development	
Use of Technology and Self-efficacy	
Nursing Informatics, Technology, and Support	

Table of Contents

Technology and Faculty Development in Nursing Education	
Perceptions on Technologies in Non-nursing disciplines	
Chapter 3: Research Method	43
Introduction	43
Research Design and Rationale	43
Role of the Researcher	44
Methodology	47
Participant Selection Log	
Instrumentation	
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	50
Data Analysis Plan	51
Issues of Trustworthiness	52
Ethical Procedures	53
Summary	54
Chapter 4: Results	55
Demographics	55
Setting 56	
Data Collection	56
Data Analysis	57
Evidence of Trustworthiness	71
Results by Research Question	72
Summary of the Data	75

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Recommendations	77
Introduction	77
Interpretation of the Findings	77
Limitations of the Study	80
Recommendations	81
Implications	
Conclusion	
References	84
Appendix A: Survey Questions	101
Appendix B: Interview	104
Appendix C: Letter of Cooperation	
Appendix D: Widener University Letter of Cooperation	106
Appendix E: Invitation to Participate in Research Study	
Appendix F: Reminder to Complete Survey	

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Technology in nursing education was recognized as commonplace as early as 2003 (McNeil, Elfrink, Bickford, Pierce, Beyea, Averill, & Klappenbach, 2003). Technology is implemented throughout the nursing curriculum via learning management systems (LMSs). LMSs are used to facilitate education by offering a virtual means of communication, collaboration, and content delivery (De Smet, Valcke, Schellens, DeWever, & Vanderlinde, 2016; Fathema, Shannon, & Ross, 2015; Findik-Coskuncay & Ozkan, 2013; Lochner, Conrad, & Graham, 2015; Rucker, Edwards, & Frass, 2015; Stein, 2014). Nursing programs reported that educators were at the novice or advanced beginner level regarding use of information technology and that there was a critical need for faculty development (Axley, 2008; Lilly, Fitzpatrick & Madigan, 2015; McNeil et al., 2003). Educators need to be especially skilled in communication and interaction with students online and have a good working knowledge of the technology that is implemented (Lilly et al., 2015; McNeil, et al., 2003; Nguyen, Zierler, & Nguyen, 2011, Porter-Wenzlaffs, 2013; Swenty & Titzer, 2014; Walker, Lindner, Murphrey, & Dooley, 2016). However, research demonstrates the need for an increase in computer literacy for nursing faculty (Hoffman & Dudjak, 2012; Hwang & Park, 2011; Lilly et al., 2015; McNeil, 2003; Nguyen et al., 2011; Rajalahti, Heinonen, & Saranto, 2014; Tacy, Northam, & Wieck, 2016). Sowan and Jenkins (2013) described the student's demand for flexible learning strategies through utilizing LMSs. Additionally, students believe they learn more through a collaborative effort than simply on their own (Naismith, Lee, & Pilkington, 2011). Researchers have documented connections between students'

performance and their level of self-efficacy regarding technology use in education (Alrushiedat & Olfman, 2014; Choi & Zucker, 2013; Hauser, Paul, & Bradley, 2012; Saade & Kira, 2009). Student perspectives on technology use in nursing education have been well documented; however, it is apparent that more current research is needed identifying the faculty support, perspectives, and self-efficacy on the use of LMS technology within nursing education.

Background

The use of technology in nursing education began to evolve in the 1990s with the incorporation of PowerPoint and the use of email (Axley, 2008). Axley (2008) reviewed the "rapid technological changes" (p. 3) over the course of 10 years, stating that student nurses would need to improve and develop the utilization of technological abilities in order to practice as professional nurses. In 1997, the National State Board of Nursing implemented the first nursing licensure exam via computer, when in previous years it was only available as a written exam (Axley, 2008). In the same year, the National Informatics Agenda for Nursing Education Practice made recommendations that nursing curriculum should include nursing informatics as well as core computing courses (Axley, 2008).

The evolution of technology integration led to the need for preparation of the faculty that implemented the concepts suggested (Axley, 2008). Hoffman and Dudjak (2012) noted "the demand for flexibility and innovation in nursing education has increased over the last decade" (p. 255). Academic settings are expanding to include LMSs; however, faculty face some challenges with implementation (Alshammari, Ali, &

Rosli, 2016; Hoffman & Dudjak, 2012; Nguyen et al., 2011; Staggers, Gassert, & Curran, 2001). Several researchers have found that faculty viewed technology in curriculum as a barrier to teaching, (Gray & Rutledge, 2014; Hoffman & Dudjak, 2012; Lilly et al., 2015). Per Travis and Rutherford (2012), some level of online instruction delivery is common in nursing education. Administrative support for faculty is crucial to successful implementation of any new or existing technology; however, faculty seem forced to learn from their own experience rather than through guided training (Kalb, O'Conner-Von, Schipper, Watkins, & Yetter, 2012; Travis & Rutherford, 2012). Although Travis and Rutherford (2012) focused on online interaction between faculty and learner, the purpose of my research was to identify and understand the connection between technology support and self-efficacy levels for nurse faculty utilizing LMSs.

The literature I reviewed indicates a theme for faculty development in general when considering online technology use and implementation. For this research, the initial literature review began with a search for studies on the use of LMS technology, self-efficacy, and faculty perceptions. I also conducted a broader search for literature on faculty development in education. Findings in other areas of education, regarding technology implementation, increased levels of self-efficacy for faculty, and faculty development, provided insight into what can be implemented in nursing education. My hope in conducting this research was that the findings will support social change in nursing education in terms of how faculty find support to improve their ability to use LMS technology and additionally improve levels of self-efficacy so that they can ultimately better serve the patient populations via the new professional nurses they teach.

Problem Statement

Nursing programs have incorporated the use of LMS technologies, which provide online collaboration with students. There was a gap in the literature regarding selfefficacy, technology support using LMSs, and faculty perceptions specific to nursing education. The purpose of this study was to provide a better understanding of how nursing faculty perceive the use of and support for integrated online LMSs, along with levels of self-efficacy, at the institution in which they work. There was a need to identify factors affecting the implementation, use, and limitations of technology in the classroom from the voice of the nurse educators (Petit dit Dariel, Wharrad, & Windle, 2010). Axley (2008) detailed the inevitable incorporation of technology into nursing education and what was expected from faculty:

Integrating technology into nursing education requires an educator who is prepared to facilitate an effective learning experience. Nursing educators are now recognizing that they must step up and join in this revolution or risk becoming obsolete. Nursing education administrators continue to endorse ongoing faculty development and involvement in distance education and the use of technology in the teaching-learning processes. (p. 4)

LMSs are considered one of the most popular educational technology systems in use in educational genres (Almarashdeh, 2016; Davis & Surajballi, 2014; Hampel, 2014; McKinney, & Whitaker, 2013; Prior, Mazanov, Meacheam, Heaslip, & Hanson, 2016; Thurber, Pope, & Meshkaty, 2012). Faculty satisfaction in using LMSs is "considered as very important for the course involvement and increasing the student's interactions with the course content" (Almarashdeh, 2016, p. 249). There is a great deal of pressure for nurse educators to adopt and implement technology such as LMSs (Stott & Mozer, 2016). Additionally, nurse educators continue to have difficulty in meeting the expectations of their institutions to keep up with the advances in technology (Posey, 2013; Stott & Mozer, 2016). It has been questioned whether faculty are prepared to incorporate technology into teaching (Axley, 2008; Blake, 2009; Chesney & Benson, 2012; Gokoglu, Ozturk, & Cakiroglu, 2015; Lee et al., 2010; Merillat & Scheibmeir, 2016; Stott & Mozer, 2016). Few researchers have examined technology use and faculty satisfaction (Almarashdeh, 2016). Blake (2009) detailed results of a study of staff/faculty perceptions for teaching delivery in healthcare, showing persistent barriers to incorporating e-learning included lack of self-confidence and lack of support. However, many of the studies in nursing education are dated, so a closer examination of current nurse faculty perspectives is warranted.

To compound the problem, there is a shortage of faculty educators, and the shortage is expected to worsen as aging faculty retire (Crocetti, 2014; Kirkham, 2016; Rock, 2014). Rock, 2014, detailed "Nursing faculty development programs are critical to cultivate new faculty into skilled educators, provide veteran faculty with opportunities to develop and strengthen skills, and initiate needed changes in nursing education" (p. 679). Per Rock (2014), the number of nurse educator candidates is shrinking. The use of online educational practice is important in the development of competent, practicing nurses (Rock, 2014).

Increased time and skill demands are placed on nurse educators to acclimate to the current use of technologies such as LMSs (Button, Harrington, & Belan, 2013). In 2008, the College of Nursing at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville prepared to move two graduate nursing programs completely online, creating the need for an assessment of faculty skills with the online environment (Lee et al., 2010). The assessment revealed a need for a faculty development program to increase knowledge, skills, and use of the online platform (Lee et al., 2010). A series of faculty development workshops were designed, implemented, and evaluated. The results showed that not all faculty members participated in the workshops, and those that did participate had varying and contrasting needs in terms of continued support in providing the online programs to students (Lee et al., 2010). A more detailed assessment of faculty needs concerning online platform modalities, along with a more in-depth assessment in andragogy is needed. "There is limited research on the faculty experience of adopting innovative technologies" (Fiedler, Giddens, & North, 2014, p. 387). In this study, I wanted to find out nursing faculty comfort levels regarding LMSs, whether there was enough support and faculty development in implementing the LMSs, and the perspectives of the nursing faculty concerning levels of self-efficacy.

There was very little information or current research on the nursing faculty perspectives and levels of self-efficacy in utilizing tools such as LMSs, which left a meaningful gap in the literature. There is a need for advancement of nursing faculty from novice or beginner in regards to the use of online technology implementation (Lilly et al., 2015; Mancuso-Murphy, 2007). My proposed study was an attempt to understand how nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology, along with levels of self-efficacy, at the institution in which they work.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to discover how nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology, along with levels of self-efficacy, at the institution in which they work. Additionally, the purpose of the proposed study was to address the gap in literature regarding nurse faculty perspectives on support and selfefficacy levels regarding the utilization of LMSs technology.

I used a case study approach for this study to aid in identifying the perspective of nursing educators who have utilized LMSs technology. The intent of this study was to describe nurse faculty perspectives on support and self-efficacy levels regarding the utilization of LMSs technology.

Research Questions

The following research questions were informed by the study purpose, the research method and design.

- How do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMS technology?
- 2. How do nurse faculty rate themselves, based on Bandura's self-efficacy model, regarding the utilization of LMS technology?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework or system of concepts explains the key factors that support the research, and uncover what is going on and why (Miles & Huberman, 1994). To explore nurse faculty perspectives on the use of LMSs technology, I used the selfefficacy conceptual framework of Bandura (1994). The framework offered insight on how nurse faculty feel about utilizing LMSs, levels of support and faculty development within their institution, and how their levels of self-efficacy.

The self-efficacy conceptual framework was supported by Bandura's (1994) perceived self-efficacy theory. Bandura (1995) stated that self-efficacy denotes an individual's ability to believe in the capability of attaining success in the task or skill required. In addition, the achieved belief in performing the task or skill can influence "how people think, feel, motivate themselves, and act" (p. 2). In this case study, I revealed the nursing faculty perspectives related to support in technology, specifically the use of LMSs, and gauged the level of self-efficacy among faculty in the implementation and utilization of LMSs technology. *Perceived self-efficacy* is defined as "people's beliefs about their capabilities to produce designated levels of performance" (Bandura, 1994, p. 1).

Bandura's theory is used extensively in all areas of education. Perceived self-efficacy is important to human functioning, influencing behavior directly along with goals, aspirations, and outcome expectations. The self-efficacy conceptual framework has been used in previous research to explore nursing education, in faculty development, and in research in the areas of nursing education, faculty development and technology. For nursing education, high self-efficacy aids in the transition from nursing student to nurse professional (George, Locasto, Pyo, & Cline, 2017). Oh, Yange, Lim, and Sung (2016) measured self-efficacy for nurse faculty in the integration of evidenced-based practice

education, finding moderate levels of self-efficacy on the part of faculty overall, yet low implementation of the evidenced-based practice. Development of effective instructional methods improve student performance, learning outcomes, and self-efficacy within nursing education (Al-Busaidi, 2013; Alrushiedat & Olfman, 2014; Hauser, Paul, & Bradley, 2012; Lee, Lee, Lee, & Bae, 2016; Miller, Russell, Cheng, & Skarbek, 2015; Saade & Kira, 2009).

Researchers have also used the self-efficacy conceptual framework to explore educators' use of technology and the need for faculty development. Issues with selfconfidence, performance, inexperience and lack of preparation have been identified in relation to implementation and use of technology in education (Duprez, Van Hooft, Dwarswaard, Van Sta, Hecke, & Strating, 2016; Efe, 2015; He, 2014; Kowalezyk, 2014; Willis, 2015).

For my study, the survey acted as a qualitative measurement of self-efficacy levels of the nurse educator in regards to the use of LMSs and perceived support of such technology. In this case, nursing faculty members identified their individual perceptions pertaining to the available support in the use of LMS technology within their current work setting to address a need, if any. Data collection included a survey of nurse faculty, interviews of a random sample of participants, and member checking.

Nature of the Study

This was a qualitative study using a case study approach. First, data was collected through a Likert-style survey designed to elicit stated levels of self-efficacy. I then connected the survey data to data I collected from participants in follow-up interviews. The interviews served to clarify survey responses through deeper discussion of the topics of technology support using LMSs and stated levels of self-efficacy. Finally, member-checking served as a final data source. The data collection and interpretation was guided by Bandura's (1994) self-efficacy theory. The case study design was consistent with understanding nurse educator perspectives regarding support in utilizing LMSs and self-efficacy.

Definitions

Course management system (CMS): A collection of software tools providing an online environment for course interactions. A CMS typically includes a variety of online tools and environments (Vanderbilt, 2016).

Learning management system (LMS): A software application or web-based technology used to plan, implement, and assess a specific learning process (Techtarget, 2016). *Educational technology:* Technological resources used to facilitate education and learning (Richey, 2008).

Practice technology: Application of technological resources in the educational setting. (National League for Nursing [NLN], 2008).

Assumptions

This study was based on several assumptions. I assumed that the participants answered the survey questions openly and honestly. I assumed the participants shared openly when selected for postsurvey interviews. These assumptions were vital to uncovering the levels of self-efficacy and stated levels of support felt on the part of nursing faculty in connection to LMS technology use.

Scope and Delimitations

This study was limited to a set of nursing educators who currently use LMSs in their teaching and to a designated region of one state in the eastern United States. I chose nursing educators that utilize LMSs for this study because there was not enough literature or research published that revealed the faculty perspectives on utilizing the LMSs. The population included nurse educators from three Southeastern Pennsylvania nursing programs, with a final total of eight participants. In this study, I sought to discover how comfortable the faculty were with the use of the LMSs, whether there was enough support and faculty development in implementing the LMSs to its fullest, and the perspectives of the nursing faculty concerning levels of self-efficacy. I did not include faculty from areas of education outside of nursing because there are already numerous publications available in which researchers have measured the self-efficacy of the staff.

Limitations

This study was exploratory in nature, thus only an initial sample of schools/faculty were chosen to participate, limiting the larger sample seen in a broader study. This study was also limited by my time and financial constraints. Another limitation was sample size because of the small number of faculty who chose to complete and return the survey. However, I sent invitations multiple times to the schools, as well as persistent reminders in order to get as many participants as possible to complete the survey. The directors of two of the schools stated that faculty were on summer break until the end of August. The survey opened on August 1 and was initially only going to be open for two weeks. When responses were limited, I added an additional two weeks to allow for more responses.

Significance

This case study provided valuable insight into professional development and necessary levels of support based on the perceptions of a sample of nursing faculty who use LMSs within their teaching. Survey questions posed to the participants included baseline demographic information such as age, gender, and length of time working in the field of nursing education. I asked faculty about their perceived level of support in regards to the use of LMS technology. I also asked faculty to rate themselves on selfefficacy in the utilization of LMSs, based on Bandura's self-efficacy theory. Applying Bandura's theory to the information gathered provides educational institutions a baseline knowledge of the level of support faculty feel is necessary. The institutions can perform additional inquiry to uncover implementations that can improve the levels of self-efficacy for the nursing educator, if warranted. In addition, performing a deeper inquiry can aid in uncovering what is working as far as the level of support provided, what is not, and what can be done to make levels of support even higher for the faculty.

Summary and Conclusions

In this study, I raised a question regarding the need for recommendations for professional development in nursing education to increase the level of support provided to faculty in utilizing LMSs. The implications for social change involved improving care to patient populations through quality nursing education delivered by confident nursing faculty who can use LMSs effectively to prepare our future nurses. The following chapter contains a review of the literature on faculty development, use of technology and self-efficacy, nursing informatics, technology, and support, technology and faculty development in nursing education, perceptions of technologies.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to explore and understand the connection between LMS technology support and self-efficacy levels from the faculty perspective in nursing education. Much of the literature has been in relation to the topic of support in nursing education for the student, not the faculty. Additionally, the perspectives revealed in previous studies have also belonged to the student, not the faculty. I did not find much research on the topic of faculty self-efficacy, specifically pertaining to utilization of technology within nursing programs. The literature on nursing education is dated due to the limited number of current studies on the topic. Although not related directly to nursing education, research findings from other disciplines in which online education through LMSs is implemented can be applied to the topic of self-efficacy and perceptions in nursing education programs that use LMS technology. A broader search for general faculty development in general education will examine what is current in terms of the need for faculty development within nursing education.

Literature Search Strategy

This literature review resulted from both current and earlier research published in peer-reviewed journals on nursing faculty's use of technology, collaboration tools, LMSs, self-efficacy, perceptions, support, and faculty development. I obtained peer-reviewed articles for this literature review from the EBSCOhost, Academic Search Premier, and CINAHL databases. In addition, I consulted the research librarian at Walden University for assistance in performing a more in-depth search of the literature. The expanded search included the databases Expanded Academic ASAP, ProQuest Central, Sage Premier, Thoreau, and Web of Science. Search text included combinations of words including *nurse, nurses, nursing; faculty, faculties; technology and (support, supported, supports, supporting); learning management systems, collaboration, collaborating, collaborated; tool, tools; method, methods;* and *self-efficacy*. I searched only for full-text, peerreviewed articles, as well as current publication dates ranging from 2011 through 2016.

Articles I used for this study came from several journals, including Online Journal of Issues in Nursing, Nursing Education Perspectives, Journal of Nursing Education, International Journal of Technology, Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks, Distance Education, and Research in Learning Technology. The study also includes references on the theory of self-efficacy from Bandura (1995).

The bulk of the literature review in Chapter 2 is separated into five parts: (a) faculty development, (b) use of technology and self-efficacy, (c) nursing informatics, technology, and support, (d) technology and faculty development in nursing education, and (e) perceptions of technologies.

In the first part, I review articles on faculty development in general education, detailing a theme for faculty development when technology is involved. The literature reviewed lends support to the area of focus for this study: the need for development, support, and self-efficacy for nursing faculty utilizing LMSs.

In the second part, I review the use of technology and self-efficacy of faculty in general education. The literature allows for comparisons of what other facilities and programs are implementing to support faculty and raise self-efficacy levels.

Understanding what successful programs do to provide support and raise levels of selfefficacy for faculty may have an impact on what can be provided for nursing faculty.

In the third and fourth parts, I exhibit literature that is specific to nursing faculty, technology, support, and faculty development in nursing education.

In the fifth part, I reveal the perceptions of both nursing and non-nursing faculty. The articles found specific to nursing educators were limited and often dated beyond five years. The limited findings imply the need for additional research in the area specific to faculty perceptions of support using LMSs and levels of self-efficacy.

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical foundation for this study was Bandura's (1994) Perceived Self-Efficacy Theory. Bandura (1995) stated that self-efficacy denotes an individual's ability to believe in the capability of attaining success in the task or skill required. In addition, the achieved belief in performing the task or skill can influence "how people think, feel, motivate themselves, and act" (p. 2) This research study revealed the nursing faculty perspectives related to support in technology, specifically the use of LMSs, and allowed me to gauge the level of self-efficacy among faculty in implementation and utilization of LMSs technology. Perceived self-efficacy is defined as "people's beliefs about their capabilities to produce designated levels of performance" (Bandura, 1994, p. 1). Bandura's theory is used extensively in all areas of education. Perceived self-efficacy is important to human functioning, influencing behavior directly along with goals, aspirations, and outcome expectations.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts

Faculty Development

Faculty development programs give faculty the support and training needed to be successful, regardless of the time and place in which the content is learned (Chiasson, Terras, & Smart, 2015; Collins & Liang, 2014; Cook & Steinert, 2013; McCord & Franetovic, 2014; Sharif & Cho, 2015). Important factors to consider in faculty development include faculty views on the value of the material presented, time, and workload (Cook & Steinert, 2013). Travis and Rutherford (2012) reviewed several studies regarding faculty preparation and interactivity in online teaching. It was argued that faculty development in online technology use and implementation has not been a priority for colleges and universities (Travis & Rutherford, 2012). Factors that impeded the progression of successful implementation in technology use included faculty learning by experience instead of through professional development. It was reported that up to 40% of institutions do not provide training for their online faculty (Travis & Rutherford, 2012). A survey of 230 community college faculty in Texas revealed that 25% stated they did not receive professional development before implementing online instruction. Additionally, 25% stated they received help from other experienced faculty, while the remainder received preparation from instructional designers (Travis & Rutherford, 2012). Comparatively, Herman (2012) stated that there is inadequate faculty support in regards to professional faculty development in online technologies, specifically, the "types and frequency of faculty development programs for online instruction" (p. 87). Herman evaluated 25 faculty development programs found that 20% of institutions that deliver

online technologies do not provide training to faculty. At the 80% of institutions that do provide training, the faculty mentioned a lack of support in the utilization of the technology (Herman, 2012). Faculty reported their perceptions about support in teaching using online modalities and the general conclusion was that faculty felt a need for more support in the way of faculty development (Herman, 2012).

Online course development and delivery was the focus of Wickersham and McElhany's (2010) study in which they examined college administrators' concerns specifically related to the successful implementation of online instruction. The methodology used was a case study design to help understand a deeper insight of the administrators' concerns related to online instruction implementation and the possibility of implementing a standard of practice for faculty development. Data from interviews of 24 academic department heads and surveys returned by 118 faculty revealed the need for support in the transition to online teaching. In addition, per Wickersham and McElhany, a level of preparedness for faculty was a consideration in the success or failure of online learning, and faculty concerns and suggestions for development should be a priority in the implementation of online instruction. Concerns that emerged when considering the implementation of online programs included barriers, preparedness of students/faculty/institution, quality, and communication.

At the Penn State University-Harrisburg, McQuiggan (2012) used an action research model to explore faculty responses to implementation of a staff development program to incorporate online technology and course design. The program included cycles of planning, acting, observing and reflecting (McQuiggan, 2012). Six faculty members participated in a 6-week program to prepare for the transition to online technology use. McQuiggan concluded that most faculty members appreciated the development program, stating the time used for planning, practice, and reflection was helpful in the learning process, whereas other faculty perceived barriers to learning that included time management and workload. Ragan, Bigatel, Kennan, & Dillon (2012) noted that teaching effectively in the online setting required a specific set of skills and competencies that can be obtained through quality faculty development programs. Staff members that have knowledge of their competencies are more likely to be successful in the workplace (Siadaty et al., 2012). The studies on staff development and using online technology support my study uncovering faculty perceptions and levels of self-efficacy utilizing LMS technologies.

At Bay Path College, a faculty development program was created to implement orientation, mentoring and support for faculty utilizing online LMSs (Vaill & Testori, 2012). Faculty members were instructed on the use of tools within the LMSs and given support by an instructional designer (Vaill & Testori, 2012). In addition, faculty members were assigned a faculty mentor experienced in using the technology. After the required 4week orientation, faculty reported an increase in ease of use and comfort with the technology. Faculty perceptions were gathered in the data and the results were positive, indicating that faculty felt more prepared to use the technology (Vaill & Testori, 2012). Faculty also reported a feeling of support from having the mentor and instructional designer assistance throughout orientation (Vaill & Testori, 2012). Like the Penn State University-Harrisburg study by McQuiggan (2012), both institutions implemented a faculty development program and found faculty to have been satisfied with the support needed to implement the learning management system. These studies are valuable to my study and proved to be examples of other educational venues that have successfully supported faculty in their implementation of technology in their teaching.

Benson, Brack, and Samarwickrema (2012) used action research to identify the needs of faculty development to assist faculty in uncovering the usefulness of the Wiki to perform student group work and assessments. A faculty development workshop using Wikis for collaboration was created for teachers and later reflections were evaluated (Benson et al., 2012). Thirteen faculty volunteers were divided into two groups and asked to actively participate in two Wiki workshop groups over a two-week period. Groups were asked to comment on, reflect, and evaluate each other's group progress related to collaboration efforts within the Wikis. Results showed the Wiki 1 Group was more advanced in the creation of three Wiki pages, while Wiki 2 Group only created one page. Benson et al. (2012) summarized the outcomes as "collaborative engagement between participants was inhibited by their previous level of technology adoption, unfamiliarity with the wiki environment, lack of time and technical issues, indicating a need for more orientation and support" (p. 6). Although this article discussed the collaboration tool Wiki, the information was useful in identifying the need for additional research and support for nursing faculty in utilizing LMS.

In a study performed by Holmes (2013), a focused, purposeful learning activity for faculty was initiated to support development in online technology implementation in classrooms. The participants of the event were followed in a case study through action research while registered in eTwinning, an initiative to "encourage school teachers to work together informally across Europe in joint pedagogical projects using the Internet" (Holmes, 2013, p. 99). The eTwinning portal started in Europe in 2004 with a steady climb of 184,000 users registered. Regional support was offered to users through the National Support Service and central support is provided though the Central Support Service. These networks offer multi-lingual support helpdesk, organize periodic events, and were maintained by public procurement contract by European Schoolnet (Holmes, 2013). An eTwinning event was created to "explore and exploit different Web 2.0 tools and applications and evaluate their applicability in eTwinning projects with a special focus on collaboration" (p.100). The eTwinning portal "provides a helpdesk for school teachers" focuses on collaboration to promote change (Holmes, 2013, p. 100). A pool of 156 teachers participated with 82 percent responding to a final online questionnaire covering the usefulness of collaboration, social contact, and overall use of the tools in practice (Holmes, 2013). Results concluded a perceived higher level of satisfaction and skillset in utilization of Web 2.0 tools such as wikis, blogs, discussion forums, documents, and presentations (Holmes, 2013). Participants also expressed more experience is needed in using the collaboration tools and stated not having full confidence in "managing online groups of students" (p.101). Per Parker, Maor, and Herrington (2013), there is a gap between "preferred online teaching approaches and actual practice" (p. 227). Building an online environment that engages students, while reinforcing faculty development is ideal for success (Parker et al., 2013).

The set of faculty development studies were relevant to the purpose of my study of support and self-efficacy for nursing faculty members utilizing LMSs, because information that has been found in these studies act as a guide for the professional development of nurse faculty in their use of LMSs technology in their teaching.

Use of Technology and Self-efficacy

In the following discussion of studies, areas in education other than nursing are explored for levels of confidence, self-efficacy, and overall satisfaction in the utilization of LMSs technology in the teaching setting. The information found within these studies contributed to the need for uncovering the levels of confidence, self-efficacy and satisfaction of nursing faculty while utilizing LMSs technology.

As fast as online learning technology is growing, many teachers do not feel prepared to teach online (Almeida, Jameson, Riesen, & McDonnell, 2016; Doherty, 2014; He, 2014; Lilly et al., 2015; McNeil et al., 2003; Nguyen et al., 2011; Swenty & Titzer, 2014). Students have been deemed the "digital Natives" while the teachers are still considered the "digital immigrants" (Conde, García-Peñalvo, Rodríguez-Conde, Alier, Casany, & Piguillem, 2014). It is noted that teachers report a lack of self-efficacy and confidence is due to deficiency in their own online experiences with technology (Duprez, Van Hooft, Dwarswaard, Van Sta, Hecke, & Strating, 2016; He, 2014;). Faculty development that includes improving levels of self-efficacy builds faculty skills and motivation in utilizing technology (Willis, 2015). Willis (2015) surveyed 424 preservice teachers using a Technology and Teaching Efficacy Scale both before and after an instructional technology course. The course was designed to improve teacher confidence and student success while implementing technology in the classroom (Willis, 2015). The results demonstrated that the course improved teacher self-efficacy and confidence (Willis, 2015). Additionally, Efe (2015) reviewed the use of Web 2.0 technologies by science student teachers. A total of 146 participants were surveyed on a self-efficacy perception scale in regards to computer use, along with an additional scale that measured Web 2.0 technology usage (Efe, 2015). The results indicated that self-efficacy is related to the development of computer skills. In addition, the teachers that had an Internet connection at home were more likely to implement Web 2.0 technology in the classroom (Efe, 2015). Efe (2015) concluded that the teachers with increased use of the technologies were more likely to provide more student-centered learning activities. Like Efe (2015), improving faculty development through understanding faculty perceptions was the focus of a study in Iran. Ghaemi (2011) completed a study of 482 faculty members of English language departments via questionnaires and suggested a need for creating faculty profiles that identify behavioral and psychological constructs. Faculty members were placed in two predictor independent variable categories; use of technology (nonuse/preparation, focus on use, focus on improvement) and stages of concern (self, task, impact). Eight dependent variables included 1) dissatisfaction with status quo, 2) knowledge and skills, 3) resources, 4) time, 5) incentives and rewards, 6) participation 7) leadership, and 8) commitment (Ghaemi, 2011, p.57). Participants' responses were assessed utilizing descriptive statistics determining the perception mean responses and standard deviation for the eight dependent variables. Time, knowledge, and skills were ranked the most important conditions for faculty in regards to faculty development.

Ghaemi (2011) suggested creating faculty profiles based on perceptions can assist in the development of an experiential model to be utilized by universities in building faculty development programs that best serve the specific needs of faculty (Ghaemi, 2011).

Self-confidence can play an important role in use of technology (Afzal, Maqbool, Ambreen, and Nasser, 2011; He, 2014; Kowalczyk, 2014). In Pakistan, a study of 114 prospective teachers focused on self-concept and self-confidence in utilizing technology in teaching (Afzal et al., 2011). A one-month long training session for over 4,000 prospective teachers was created to assist with the integration of computers successfully into classroom teaching. Measurement of self-concept and self-confidence was measured using an instrument developed by the researchers. The instrument included demographic information of participants, 16 statements measuring self-concept, and 17 statements measuring self-confidence. Per Afzal et al. (2011), teachers with positive self-concept along with increased levels of confidence are "more likely to engage themselves in difficult teaching tasks" (p. 150) The researchers identified the use of faculty development and training as crucial to building skills and providing support for faculty (Afzal et al., 2011). Similarly, Bursal and Yigit (2012) depicted the importance of evaluating pre-service science faculty members regarding self-efficacy beliefs pertaining to use of Information and Communication Technologies (ICT). The purposive sample for the study included 310 pre-service teachers at the Faith College of Education of Karadeniz Technical University in Turkey. The researchers developed the ICT Usage and Material Design Efficacy scale to measure the efficacy beliefs in relation to the use of ICT. Factors such as gender and income showed to be of little significance to the results,

however the variables labeled Short, Medium, and Long in terms of home computer use, those in the long-term group had significantly higher ICT skills (Bursal & Yigit, 2012). Additionally, participants were labeled in groups of experience titled less, medium, and more experienced, with the results concluding those in the more experienced group showed higher levels of self-efficacy. It was concluded that faculty development and support of faculty enhanced the positive attitudes and skills of the participants (Bursal & Yigit, 2012).

A radiologic science audience was sought for the survey of top three identifiable barriers to implementing online education. The respondents included radiography educators from a two-year community college, a 4-year university, and a hospital-based program (Kowalczyk, 2014). In total, Kowalczyk (2014) surveyed 373 radiologic science educators and identified their perceived barriers to online education. Perceived barriers to online course delivery included lack of self-confidence, lack of troubleshooting support, along with peer resistance in adapting to online educational formats (2014). Equally, a study by He, (2014), identified that less than one third of teachers felt prepared to teach online or implement a technology, stating the reason being a "lack of self-efficacy and confidence" (p 283). Twenty-four teacher candidates participated in an online course using Universal Design for Learning (UDL), a set of principles that originated as a framework for theory and practice in education (He, 2014). An instrument was developed targeting self-efficacy and confidence, as well as preassessment and postassessment surveys of participants (He, 2014). Results did uncover the faculty felt an overall increase in confidence after participating in the online course provided to students, stating that they felt more comfortable with some online experience (He, 2014).

This discussion of self-concept and confidence helped in identifying the need for such research of nursing faculty and their perceptions regarding technology use and therefore relevant to my proposed study. Additionally, the research found on faculty outside of nursing education supported the need for additional research, to uncover the needs of nursing faculty.

Nursing Informatics, Technology, and Support

There was a problem with the lack of current research as it applies to nursing faculty perspectives and level of self-efficacy in utilizing LMSs. Literature was outdated, beyond 5 years, and lacked the faculty perspectives on levels of support provided. This gap in the literature reinforced the need for my study. Uncovering the actual perspectives of faculty gained insight into what the faculty need in regards to support and development.

In a study by Christianson, Tiene, and Luft (2002), information on faculty perceptions regarding online teaching experiences were collected through survey responses from 54 percent of those polled totaling 171 respondents. Overall, findings concluded most participants utilized both synchronous and asynchronous computer tools for teaching (Christianson, et al., 2002). Furthermore, most the participants in this study preferred teaching in the online environment rather than face-to-face instruction, stating more flexibility and collaboration with students (Christianson, et al, 2002). The author failed to elaborate on what technology support measures are in place for the participants. This was relevant to my proposed study because the study shows the limited and dated research on nurse faculty perspectives of using technology. Alternatively, a study done by Salyers, Carter, Barrett, and Williams (2010), on nursing student and faculty satisfaction was explored while implementing a pedagogical framework titled Introduction, Connect, Apply, Reflect, and Extend (ICARE) courses within e-learning formats such as Blackboard, Moodle, Design2Learn. Salyers, et al. (2010) described barriers to implementing such technologies, including "lack of instructional design support, inconsistent, inadequate or unreliable infrastructure support, as well as varying degrees of faculty and student experience with online learning environments" (p. 1). By utilizing ICARE, course modules are structured, organized, and applied, to provide superior student and faculty experience while using the e-learning formats described (Salyers et al., 2010). Results of the study showed some benefit in utilizing ICARE in the nursing curriculum within the e-learning format as it reflected the "general thinking and learning processes of the discipline" (p. 11). The results of this study can be applied as a guide in furthering support for nurse faculty.

In Michigan, 15 nurse educators participated in a research study using a 32-item instrument designed to measure self-efficacy online teaching efficacy (Robina & Anderson, 2010). Findings of the study showed increased levels of self-efficacy after implementation of three online courses. The researchers indicated additional data is needed to "reveal factors that contribute to new faculty developing online teaching efficacy beliefs" (p.169). Similarly, an investigation of nurse faculty experiences in the planning and

teaching of a blended course design found that online learning was a challenge for the teachers (Jokinen & Mikkonen, 2013). A university in Finland introduced a blended learning course into the nursing curriculum. Participants were separated into three focus groups of four to six teachers in each group for interviews. "Nine themes emerged: collaborative planning; integration; student group; face-to-face teaching; online learning competencies" (p.526). One of the most valuable findings found that teachers merely used the online format as a place to deposit materials (Jokinen & Mikkonen, 2013). These findings were valuable to my study because it supported the need for better understanding of support in LMSs use, additional inquiry about self-efficacy, and faculty development in nursing education.

Technology and Faculty Development in Nursing Education

In 2006, the NLN conducted a survey of faculty and nursing administrative leaders. With over 2000 respondents, the findings revealed the following:

The most disturbing findings of this survey were found in comments made by respondents. Faculty and administrators fail to distinguish between educational technology and practice technology, as evidenced by responses like "all courses are web-enhanced." It was clear that many equated taking online courses with computer and information literacy from informatics. Since more than 80 percent

For this research, faculty were asked to state the level of support felt from the institution's where they work. This helped gain an understanding of what further faculty development

of faculty said that they were self-taught, this is not surprising. (p. 4)

could be implemented within nursing education systems that would increase self-efficacy among faculty, if needed.

Email surveys were sent to gather input on the preparation of nursing students regarding technology use. The results revealed 60 percent of nursing programs required computer literacy as part of the curricula and 40 percent required information literacy (NLN, 2008). More than half of the respondents stated the curriculum included some informatics, with results showing that informatics was more likely integrated within baccalaureate and advanced degree programs (NLN, 2008). Results of my study provided insight into the area of technology use, support for faculty in nursing education, and the perspectives of faculty.

The National Nursing Informatics Work Group of deans and directors in nursing education, along with 19 US experts, served as advisors on informatics priorities in education. Nursing programs reported educators are at the novice or advanced beginner level regarding use of information technology and that there is a critical need for faculty development (McNeil, Elfrink, Bickford, Pierce, Beyea, Averill, & Klappenbach, 2003). The recommendations generated the National Informatics Agenda for Nursing Education and Practice that included core concepts needed in nursing curricula (McNeil, et al., 2006). Per McNeil, et al. (2006), the American Nurses Association standards on informatics practice and application included the beginning and experienced nurse practitioners as well as informatics nurse specialists, however, the nurse faculty was not mentioned, involving a need for further research. This was relevant to my study due to the dated research on nurse faculty as it relates to use of technology in the practice of teaching.

In more recent findings, a revision of the American Nurses Association's (ANA) Nursing Professional Development: Scope and Standards of Practice was published in the summer of 2010. This document serves as a guide for the professional nurse in the application of practice (ANA, 2010). Per Benedict and Bradley (2010), the revision detailed the advances in technology, the need for core values including knowledge management, which "incorporates hi-tech learning media, emerging technologies, innovations, and rapid transitions such as point-of-care learning with iPods, laptops, and other electronic formats into clinical practice and advanced practice environments" (p. 196). This set of competencies was relevant to this proposal to validate the need nursing professional development as it applies to the nurse educator.

Pollacia and McCallister (2009) offered a solution to online course development within learning institutions by implementation of a set of standards established by Quality Matters (QM). "QM is a set of competencies designed to provide the best practices in instructional design for courses that are delivered fully online or with a significant portion delivered online, i.e. hybrid courses" (p. 155). This information was relevant to this proposal because it offers the type of competencies that could be implemented within nursing programs for faculty to obtain necessary staff development in the utilization of online collaboration and LMSs. Quality Matters was also utilized as the internal standard at the University of South Carolina. The standards were used to develop LMSs course design (Rucker, et al., 2015). The QM standards proved to be successful for establishing a guideline for building a foundation for development (Rucker, et al., 2015).

Universities and colleges offer online degree programs for many reasons, including increasing enrollment, improving student access to programs, ability to reach non-traditional students, and reduced cost of education delivery (Jones & Wolf, 2010). For faculty, there are many positives for teaching online. Freedom to work from anywhere, automatic grading applications, electronic submissions of essays, and control over online content were cited as major reasons for the interest in online teaching (Jones & Wolf, 2010). Jones and Wolf (2010) discussed the role of faculty in distance education as one that must possess leadership, provide support, and act as a resource to students. In addition, the faculty would effectively manage time within the online education delivery system and master communication among students and encourage critical thinking (Jones & Wolf, 2010). Per Jones and Wolf (2010) collaboration is encouraged between faculty and students via the use of WIKIS and blogs, and this technology should be "embraced", yet there is no mention of how the faculty were supported in utilizing such tools (p.46). Other than a required faculty certification program for online instructors, Jones and Wolf (2010) failed to mention the level of support available to nursing faculty. This was relevant to my study because it is more current research in nursing education, connects the use of collaboration tools and its usefulness, yet fails to find the perceptions and selfefficacy of the faculty.

Examples of technology implemented in nursing education include computer – assisted learning, course management software, and clinical simulation. A review of two

educational information systems included computer-assisted learning and course management software (Nelson, Myers, Rizzolo, Rutar, Proto, & Newbold, 2006). Per Nelson, et al. (2006), computer-assisted teaching originated in nursing education in the 1960's, with exam software development progressing in the 1980's, and has advanced with clinical simulation that involves life-like patient simulators. Although patient simulators are not the same technology as LMSs, the point of this article is what the authors note as the importance of the role faculty and what role they should play in the use of the technological systems. In fact, the authors suggested the idea that faculty be included in the "selection, design, and implementation of the information systems", along with what development is necessary, (Nelson, et al., 2006, p. 252).

Faculty support is critical to success of online and web-enhanced education (Benjamin, 2008). Benjamin (2008) discussed the use of informational technology (IT) department at the West Virginia University Health Sciences Center. The IT professionals provided faculty with user training, computing services support, as well as help desk support. Similarly, the IT department at Old Dominion University supports faculty through the designation of an instructional designer assigned to the School of Nursing to provide support in design, training, and implementation of online and web-enhanced instruction programs offered to students (Benjamin, 2008). The research directly addressed the actual support of nursing faculty at these two universities in utilizing the online and web-enhanced applications. This offers an example of the support universities and colleges can provide to nursing faculty. Surveys performed in 2002 of faculty regarding the support in distance education was referenced within Benjamin's research, however, more recent faculty perspectives are needed to gain further insight on perceived level of support in technology and level of self-efficacy. This dated literature showed the need for more current research on faculty perspectives, levels of self-efficacy and LMS technology support.

In 2008, the College of Nursing at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville prepared to move two graduate nursing programs completely online, creating the need for an assessment of faculty skills with the online environment (Lee, Paulus, Loboda, Phipps, Wyatt, Myers & Mixer, 2010). The assessment revealed a need for a faculty development program to increase knowledge, skills, and use of the online platform (Lee et al., 2010). A series of faculty development workshops were designed, implemented, and evaluated. Over the course of three-months, five synchronous workshops along with three asynchronous discussion forums in Blackboard, and technology training sessions were held for faculty within the university (Lee et al., 2010). The program was reviewed using formative and summative evaluations, assessing faculty needs throughout the course (Lee et al., 2010). The results showed that not all faculty members participated in the workshops, and those that did participate had varying and contrasting needs in terms of continued support in providing the online programs to students (Lee et al., 2010). A more detailed assessment of faculty needs concerning online platform modalities, along with a more in-depth assessment in andragogy is needed (Lee et al., 2010).

Filer (2010) performed a study on the use of "clickers", an audience response system tool, for its ability to increase knowledge, motivation, and participation in class. Although the technology of audience response systems is not like LMSs, the connection

to faculty development or lack thereof, is important to identify. The study was relevant for the student population, however, Filer failed to mention how the faculty learned to implement the clicker technology and if any support was provided. Additionally, the author did not reveal the perspectives of the faculty regarding the use of the technology. In a similar study by Berry (2009), clickers were implemented to determine the level of understanding in regards to content information given during lecture to the nursing student body. Identical to Filer, Berry failed to mention the nursing faculty perspectives on use of the technology, the level of support that was provided to faculty, if any, and if training was provided to faculty. Finally, Grady (2012) tracked a Virtual Clinical Practicum (VCP). The study focused on identifying the perceptions and experiences of the student that utilized a virtual experience in a nursing education program. The application was put in place to supplement existing curriculum. Overall, student perceptions of the VCP were positive (Grady, 2012). Again, no evidence of faculty perceptions was documented within the research. Although this literature was not connected specifically to the use of LMSs technology, it exposes the necessity for studying the identified gap within nursing education.

Fear of technology is a major barrier to technology implementation (Griffin-Sobel et al., 2010). In a New York City nursing program, the researchers took an interdisciplinary team approach to technology implementation by constructing a support team. The support team consisted of experts in technology, library services, and laboratory. The nursing program employed 27 full-time faculty and 60 adjunct faculty, with only two faculty members considered to be experienced in the use of technological learning strategies (Griffin-Sobel et al., 2010). Like the research done by Lee et al. (2010), Griffin-Sobel's research proved the use of a support team allowed for faculty to be open and receptive to the integration and learning of the new technology (2010). Interaction among faculty and experts were noted as a major benefit in the acceptance of the new technology (Griffin-Sobel et al., 2010).

In Canada, mobile technology was evaluated in a study involving nursing faculty and students in two separate nursing programs. The focus of the study was to assess selfefficacy of the participants while utilizing mobile technology in teaching and learning (Kenny, VanNeste-Kenny, Burton, Park & Qayyum, 2012). Participants included 189 students and 27 faculty members across two programs, Practical Nursing, and Baccalaureate Nursing surveys were utilized gathering demographic information along with mobile use data (Kenny et al., 2012). The researchers concluded high confidence levels for both faculty and student participants. This was relevant to my study as it demonstrates positive self-efficacy research has been performed in nursing education yet it is not focused on self-efficacy, support, and faculty development in implementing LMSs technology to its fullest. In addition, overall perspectives of the nursing faculty in regards to level of support, self-efficacy, and ability in nursing education had yet to be established.

Moreover, Sword (2012), identified the perceptions of nursing faculty transitions to online teaching. Interviews of 20 educators from seven separate colleges and universities shared the following results: time as a factor in preparation, exploration, and implementation. Challenges were identified as learning the technology and feeling intimidated by the technology as well as a lack of resources, "such as mentors, information technology staff, software support and peer faculty support" were mentioned (**p**. 270). Sword's research demonstrated the usefulness of the efforts made by few nursing programs to consider faculty perceptions, however more research is needed to gain a clear understanding of additional nurse faculty perceptions.

The literature gap demonstrated there was not enough current research in nursing education to gather an accurate measure of self-efficacy and support for nursing faculty in the use of LMSs.

Perceptions on Technologies in Non-nursing disciplines

There is a real need to understand the perceptions of faculty concerning the use of technologies in the classroom (Greener & Wakefield, 2015). Per Greener and Wakefield (2015), "there is disconnect between student expectations and staff capabilities and motives" (p. 266). An in-depth study by Gonzalez (2012) investigated the perceptions of faculty regarding the use of e-learning within the face-to-face environment. The participants included 18-university faculty across two campuses that ranged from having 5-20 years of teaching experience in varying disciplines, but not including nursing within the disciplines. All participants were teaching in an undergraduate setting, in an on-campus setting, utilizing e-learning elements. The selected sample targeted a variety of experiences in gender, years teaching, discipline, and academic position. Participants were later asked to reflect on previous answers and explored open-ended questions (Gonzalez, 2012). The results of the study concluded the following:

...results suggested that university teachers would be more likely to incorporate e-learning meaningfully if: they have adequate control of what they teach, allowing them space for experimenting with new ways of using e-learning; there is a clear and agreed institutional strategy that supports and promotes the uptake of elearning; there is proper technical support; there is proper pedagogical support; there is enough time allocated for teaching using e-learning or there are proper strategies for dealing with the increasing time pressures; they perceive they have good skills; and they perceive their students as having the appropriate skills and/or pressing for greater use of e-learning. (p. 992)

The findings by Gonzalez (2012) was relevant to my study and can act as a guide for what needed to be investigated in nursing education.

Ginn and Hammond (2012) conducted a survey related to the diffusion of online teaching technology within the Public Affairs discipline. Per Ginn and Hammond (2012), faculty felt a reluctance to participate in online teaching due to a lack of appropriate training and resources. This is comparatively like what Gonzalez (2012) found since participants in both studies revealed certain factors would need to be in place before they would feel comfortable in utilizing the technology. In comparison, Carusetta and Cranton (2005), yielded similar results with faculty perspectives. They discussed faculty development and perspectives of faculty, after an implementation of a change in teaching environment, going from traditional classroom to a collaborative teaching environment. Eight faculty members at Renaissance College in New Brunswick, Canada were interviewed after an integration of a collaborative learning format was set in place (Carusetta & Cranton, 2005). Their results determined benefits of collaborative environments, including growth and development in teaching, strong relationships with students, and an overall sense of authenticity in faculty's teaching (Carusetta & Cranton, 2005). This research is valuable to my study's purpose, as it shows the positive effects of collaboration in learning and levels of self-efficacy in faculty. However, the research was beyond 5 years old and supports the need for current data.

An examination of faculty perceptions utilizing online course delivery was performed across three Jordanian universities. The participants included 165 faculty members teaching in the engineering program, all having some or no online course delivery experience (Al-Alawneh, 2014). A thirty-six-item survey addressed perceived barriers to online delivery; categories included the institution, instruction, and student (Al-Alawneh, 2014). A Likert scale recorded the responses and results were placed into above-mentioned categories, with 12 items listed in each and ranked by means and standard deviation. Ultimately, the categories were put into order of highest perceived barrier with students ranking as the highest barrier to online course delivery, with faculty ranked second, and the institution ranking third (Al-Alawneh, 2014). Al-Alawneh (2014) points out that not one of the universities in Jordan offer an online degree, only individual courses, which could account for the high perceived barrier rankings. Additionally, the author cited references that were considerably dated beyond 5 years and many were over 10 years. This could have been due to the limited literature on faculty perceptions, which lends support to my proposed study to add additional research on faculty perspectives in nursing education to the nursing education literature.

A university in Japan, specializing in languages, implemented a professional development program for the faculty to increase working knowledge of the LMS, Moodle (Stanley, 2015). Faculty originally received training one day per year to refresh their knowledge of the CMS. An online survey inquired about faculty perceptions after attending the professional development program. The survey yielded 42 respondents and follow up interviews were scheduled with eight faculty selected (Stanley, 2015). Additionally, the researcher gathered expertise literature on best practices in professional development implementing technology, creating a criterion rubric used to analyze the professional development initiative. The professional development program initiatives were compared to the best practice rubric, with results showing that fifteen of nineteen experts (cited in the rubric) stated that having support with technology implementation is most important (Stanley, 2015). The use of workshops to learn more about the technology, in this case Moodle, was stated to be also of high importance (Stanley, 2015). Other implementations cited in the rubric for best practice included hands-on activities using the technology, how-to manuals, visual systematic examples of technology use, reliable Internet access, and continued professional development using the technology (Stanley, 2015). Although the comparison of the implemented professional development program to the best practice rubric was considered a success, there was no increase in faculty use of the CMS. However, faculty perceived the program helped to reassure their abilities in utilizing the CMS. In a related inquiry, Kim and Kim (2013) investigated the

perceptions of faculty on adoption and intended use of Smart Education. The Smart Education program involves ICT for teaching purposes (Kim & Kim, 2013). In total, 1817 responses were collected regarding the adoption and intent to utilize Smart Education, with results concluding overall use was based of the perceptions and selfefficacy of teachers (Kim & Kim, 2013). The perceived levels of self-efficacy had a direct correlation with adoption and use of the technology (Kim & Kim, 2013). This was relevant in discovering the perceptions of nursing faculty related to LMSs use, support, and self-efficacy.

Another study of faculty perspectives addressed design of online interaction, knowledge, and competencies. Participants included faculty from three countries, United States, Venezuela, and Spain, and included three disciplines, engineering, education, and business (Barbera, Layne, & Gunawardena, 2014). Six faculty members from US, six from Spain, and seven from Venezuela comprised the 19 participants. All participants were interviewed. Results concluded faculty perceived "disciplinary knowledge takes precedence when faculty members select competencies to be developed in online courses for their respective professions" (p.162). There is a low correlation between competencies the faculty would like to implement and what is being designed for online programs (Barbera et al., 2014). Additionally, faculty admitted that critical thinking and problem solving skills were crucial for students to become successful in the workplace. However, the faculty had yet to design and implement these components in the online setting, revealing the need for "faculty development program that would help faculty develop teaching strategies and methods that are student and community centered will bridge the gap between faculty intention and actual practice" (p. 164). This lent support to collect the perspectives from nursing faculty to provide the best possible education for the future nurses.

Galvis (2012) examined literature on teachers' beliefs affecting computer technology. The teachers' beliefs were reflected in how effectively a technology is used, specifically, comfort levels, and usefulness (Galvis, 2012). Teachers' beliefs determined whether the technology will be used and forcing a technology is not recommended. Rather, implementing a simple technology and gradually allowing the teachers to acclimate offered better results (Galvis, 2012). In fact, Galvis explained the literature revealed forcing a technology can produce reluctance on the part of the teacher. Finally, Galvis discussed the need for further research on teachers' beliefs regarding technology related to workload, time, class size, age of faculty, and culture.

Like Galvis (2012), Cheok & Wong (2015) performed an in-depth literature review of faculty perspectives on LMSs and found that satisfaction depends on a perception that the technology would enhance productivity. According to faculty, additional factors that predict satisfaction included ease of use, organizational support, training, attitude, interaction, and self-efficacy (Cheok & Wong, 2015). Overall, understanding faculty perspectives can greatly influence how effectively a LMS is used (Cheok & Wong, 2015).

Summary and Conclusions

In all, as indicated by the literature, there was a need to investigate the perceptions of self-efficacy and perceptions of support by nursing faculty. The literature specific to nursing education was dated and did not always focus on self-efficacy as an element of the study. The review of literature required the inclusion of literature outside the area of nursing education to support the need for the proposed study. Other disciplines in education have inquired on the perspectives and levels of self-efficacy for the faculty. This research filled the gap that nursing education has not yet uncovered in measuring the levels of self-efficacy for faculty using the LMSs. This allowed university nursing programs to have a starting point for where faculty development needs begin specific to using LMSs, how the needs can be addressed, and hopefully better utilize the technology for the betterment of student education.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to understand the connection between LMS technology support and self-efficacy levels for using the technology from the faculty perspectives in nursing education. This chapter identifies the topic researched, the setting of the research, the research design and rationale, along with the role of the researcher. Additionally, this chapter discusses the participant selection plan, methodology, instrumentation, and the data analysis plan for the research.

Research Design and Rationale

For this study, I used a case study approach. Case study research is consistent with understanding nurse educator perspectives regarding self-efficacy and support in utilizing LMSs. A case study involves an in-depth look at a particular group or situation, often indicating the need for further elaboration on the topic and allowing for a more realistic response from participants than simple statistical surveys (Trochim & Donnelly, 2008). An exploratory case study is often a precursor to a larger scale study. I chose the case study design in order to look specifically at nurse faculty perceptions via survey and interviews.

The participants included active nurse faculty that have or currently use LMSs within nursing programs. I selected nursing faculty as the population after noting the limited literature regarding nursing education and what appeared to be a lack of support for nursing faculty utilizing LMS technology. Additionally, current literature in other areas of education, outside of nursing, suggested a greater level of support was needed for faculty to successfully implement and utilize LMSs.

The following research questions were the focus of this research:

- How do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMS technology?
- 2. How do nurse faculty rate themselves, based on Bandura's self-efficacy model, in regard to the utilization of LMS technology?

First, I conducted a survey using questions with Likert-scale responses to explore levels of self-efficacy of nursing faculty in relationship to the use of LMS technology. Next, I conducted follow-up interviews with selected participants. The interviews sought to clarify survey responses through deeper discussion and insight of the topics of technology support using LMSs and stated levels of self-efficacy. Then, I examined the survey data together with the interview data for emerging themes. Guided by Bandura's (1994) self-efficacy theory, the data collection and interpretation process allowed me to uncover perspectives and levels of self-efficacy regarding use of LMSs.

Role of the Researcher

Because of my immersion in the study, there was a potential for researcher bias. Based on Bandura's (1994) self-efficacy theory, my perspective on the issue was that more support and faculty development was needed in the utilization of LMS technology within nursing education. For this study, personal biases included the observation that there may be a lack of support for nursing faculty in their use of LMSs. This bias was acknowledged; however, my intentions during data collection were to remain neutral, to seek information in a professional manner, and avoid preconceived notions or ideas. I let the research results lead the way in identifying the faculty perspectives. It was possible that nursing faculty felt insecure or not fully comfortable utilizing LMSs and were not aware that they needed additional support. Bandura (1994) stated self-efficacy is a belief in a person's abilities. I have been both a full-time nursing faculty member as well as an adjunct clinical faculty member. Although I may have known some of the participants at one of the universities, I kept a professional position when the study was underway. My position on this issue makes me fully aware of the potential for bias. I am a former adjunct faculty at one of the universities, although I have not had a recent contract nor did I during this research, and ultimately, no faculty from that school participated in the study. All necessary steps were taken to prevent the presence of bias during collection, analysis, and interpretation of the data. I wrote the survey questions without a sense of steering the participants to answer a certain way. I asked each participant the same questions. The postsurvey interview protocol was prepared in advance of implementation to ensure that it would be followed and that there would be no probing questions. All interviews were audio recorded and transcribed for clarity.

To recruit participants, I contacted the Directors of Nursing in the selected institutions via email with a letter of cooperation. Upon being granted permission to access research participants, a letter of invitation was distributed to potential nursing faculty participants by the Directors of Nursing. The faculty of one of the universities were contacted via email directly, using contact information from the university website. Participants were asked to review the letter of invitation and reply to indicate their interest. A consent form was then forwarded to each willing participant via email. Participants were asked to send the completed consent form back to me via email to indicate that they agreed to participate. An email including a link to the survey on SurveyMonkey was then sent to consenting participants. I sent a reminder email after one week and again on the fifth day of the second week.

Responses were tallied by Surveymonkey immediately upon participants' completion of the survey. Results were analyzed, recorded, and stored appropriately by me. The intent was to collect data and perform analysis in a fair, honest, neutral manner.

Participants who agreed to additional contact through a follow-up interview were contacted via email. Participants were labeled with numbers and four were chosen randomly to be interviewees. Emails were sent to the randomly selected group of four initially, requesting to schedule a follow-up interview. I sent a reminder email at the end of one week. With no initial responses, the remaining four faculty were sent the same request to interview. At that time, two faculty from the first round of requests responded and scheduled interviews. The second group was also sent a reminder requesting interviews after one week, with two responding the next day. Three of the four interviewed were from the same school of nursing. One was from a different school of nursing. Interview dates and times were set mutually by me and each of the participants. I conducted interviews over the phone on the scheduled dates/times. Interviews were audio recorded for thorough analysis and transcribed using Transcription Hub.

I gathered and interpreted responses without bias. One way to avoid bias was through clarification. Participants were asked clarifying questions regarding their responses if there was uncertainty in understanding the initial response given during interview. Participants were then allowed to review my interpretation of the interview as a form of member-checking.

Methodology

Participant Selection Log

Purposive sampling targets a specific group or case, and gathering the information to serve the purpose of the study (Patton, 2002). Information gathered from the selected group is intended to shed light on the phenomenon being investigated, in this case, the actual perspectives of the nursing faculty on their level of self-efficacy and perceived level of support received by the institutions in which they teach regarding the use of LMS technology. Critical-case purposive sampling technique can provide a decisive explanation of a phenomenon (Patton, 2002). Nursing faculty in four southeastern Pennsylvania universities were the target population, with a desired minimum of 15-30 survey participants. This study required a small, exploratory sample to gain insights that may foster further study of the issues surrounding nursing faculty's use of technology in their instruction. This group was targeted based on the lack of recent literature found in nursing education and what seemed to be insufficient support in the use of LMS technology. Stebbins (2001) argued that small samples in exploration provide enough data to generalize the case. Surveys were sent to consenting participants at three selected Southeastern Pennsylvania nursing programs where the use of LMSs had been identified. Although a minimum of 15 to 30 survey responses was desired for the critical case sample, ultimately, eight participants completed the survey. Nonetheless, the sample size

allowed for "emergence of important categories and subcategories that inevitably occur during the study" (Stebbins, 2001, p. 27). Survey data were analyzed using measures of central tendency via the Survey Monkey application. The purposive sample survey elicited demographic information including the age of faculty, length of time teaching in nursing education, types of technology used in their teaching career, technology skill level, if they have specifically used LMSs, available resources within the facility they work, and level of support in using the stated technology. For the interview four participants were selected out of the eight participants that completed the survey. According to Stebbins (2001), anything more than one case example is enough to show variation. Additionally, unlike traditional research, exploratory studies are conducted using smaller groups of individuals.

Instrumentation

Data was collected through a survey. A link to a Likert-style survey in Survey monkey was sent via email to participants. The survey was created by the researcher, designed to elicit responses pertaining to the use of LMSs and the levels of self-efficacy of the nursing faculty. Questions included basic demographic information such as age, gender, and length of time teaching nursing. Questions were developed based on Bandura's Self-Efficacy Theory (1994). External validity was established by having an additional methodologist from Walden University review the survey questions. Participants were asked to rate their stated level of self-efficacy in relation to using LMSs. Survey questions also sought the amount of support facilities have provided faculty as well as the amount of support desired. The research identified technology support and self-efficacy levels for nursing faculty that utilize LMSs.

For additional data collection, there were follow-up interviews. The researcher contacted those participants by email following survey results. Telephone interviews were conducted with four of the eight survey participants. Emails were sent to a randomly selected group of four initially, requesting to schedule a follow up interview. A reminder email was sent at the end of one week. With no initial responses, the remaining four faculty were sent the same request to interview. At that time, two faculty from the first round of requests responded and scheduled interviews. The second group was also sent a reminder requesting to interview after one week, with two responding the next day. Three of the four interviewed were from the same school of nursing. One was from a different school of nursing. Interviews were conducted via the telephone and recorded. The phone interviews built on survey responses by understanding faculty feelings and perspectives in their own words, allowing them to discuss, in more detail, the responses given on the survey. The interviews were approximately 10-15 minutes in length and audio-recorded. Questions in the follow-up interviews sought deeper understanding about nursing faculty perspectives utilizing LMSs, allowing the participant to go into detail. The interview questions sought more detailed information on the type of LMSs technology the faculty has used, which elements of the technology work best, and what support programs are in place within the participant's facility. Survey and Interview protocol are in Appendices A and B.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

The researcher contacted Directors of Nursing from the selected institutions via email asking for permission to conduct the survey of the faculty. Directors were asked to distribute a letter of invitation to faculty. Faculty responded to me via email and were sent a consent. Participants that sent me back a yes to consent were sent the survey link in SurveyMonkey via email. Specifically, the researcher contacted Directors of Nursing in the selected institutions via email with a letter of cooperation. Upon being granted permission to access research participants, a letter of invitation was distributed to potential nursing faculty participants by the Directors of Nursing. Nursing faculty at one University were contacted via email directly, using contact information from the University website. The director of nursing at that university suggested that contacting the faculty directly would avoid having to go through that university's IRB process. Participants responded back to me via email and were sent a letter of informed consent, asked to agree, then the survey link was sent to these consented participants. A reminder email was sent after one week and again on the fifth day of the second week. Responses were tallied immediately by Surveymonkey. Results were analyzed, recorded, and stored appropriately by me. The intent was to take data, perform analysis in a fair, honest, neutral manner. Participants agreed to additional contact through a follow-up interview and were contacted via email to set up interviews. Interview dates and times were set mutually by me and the participant. I conducted interviews over the phone on the scheduled dates/times. Interviews were audio recorded for thorough analysis and transcribed using Transcriptionhub. Transcriptions were read and re-read alongside the

audio recordings for accuracy. Responses were gathered and interpreted without bias. One way to avoid bias is through clarification. Participants were asked clarifying questions regarding their responses if there was uncertainty in understanding the initial response given in the interview. Participants were allowed to review the transcription of the interview as a form of member-checking. The survey and interview questions are in Appendices A and B. Responses were tallied and recorded and stored appropriately. The cooperation letters are in Appendices C and D. The Invitation for faculty is in Appendix E. The reminder form for completing the survey is in Appendix F.

Data Analysis Plan

The survey collected data from the participants. The survey data was analyzed using measures of central tendency, or mode, to identify the frequency of a given response. The collected interview data was analyzed utilizing the NVIVO software system using coding.

The Likert-style survey responses were analyzed through descriptive statistics, using the measures of central tendency. A distribution of survey responses was displayed in a graphic bar chart. For the interview data, responses were analyzed for emerging themes. Common words were flagged for coding. Coding is a form of analysis and used in a qualitative study to assign a summative word to a piece of collected data (Miles & Huberman, 1994). For instance, the researcher used an interview to collect the data, then the responses to the questions asked in the interviews were categorized into sections, and a word was assigned for similar responses from participants. Codes were further grouped into categories, often being refined more than once. The categories were constructed based on the theoretical framework of Bandura (1994). The categories were then compared to uncover commonalities or themes, conceptual frameworks, and theory (Miles & Huberman, 1994). "The ultimate objective is to match the observation to a theory or set of constructs" (Miles & Huberman, p.58).

Issues of Trustworthiness

Credibility represents the authenticity of the data or the participant views and the explanation and depiction of them by the researcher (Polit & Beck, 2012). "A qualitative study is considered credible if the descriptions of human experience are immediately recognized by individuals that share the same experience. To support credibility when reporting a qualitative study, the researcher should demonstrate engagement, methods of observation, and audit trails" (Pope, 2014, p.89). Audit trails were maintained through journal notes with reflective thoughts, audio of the interviews with transcription, and data analysis information. Member checking collected important feedback from participants to validate the translation of their responses.

Transferability occurs when the same study can be conducted in other settings and situations (Polit & Beck, 2012). Transferability was established through detailing the description of the methodology, participants, and data collection procedures to provide sufficient information for readers to associate the findings with their own experiences.

Confirmability is the researcher's way to prove the data is representative of what the participants revealed. Confirmability was established through reflexivity. Reflexive journals detailed how the findings were established. Conclusions should be results directly found in the data (Pope, 2014). One way to ensure this is to keep detailed notes and direct statements from participants.

Intercoder reliability is "the extent to which two or more independent coders agree on the coding of the content of interest with an application of the same coding scheme" (Lavrakas, 2008, p. 344).

Ethical Procedures

The Institutional Review Board (IRB) ensures that "all research complies with the university's ethical standards as well as U.S. federal regulations. The IRB approval is required prior to the collection of any data" (Walden University, 2016). An IRB application was completed prior to beginning the data collection for this study. Ethical concerns that could impede data collection and research process would include the early withdrawal of participants or not enough regional program directors agree to faculty participation. The plan for either of these situations included contacting an additional group of institutions by expanding the region for permission to allow faculty to participate.

Any information participants provided was kept confidential. The researcher did not use personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher did not include names or any other information that could identify participants in the study reports. Data was kept in a secure location by the researcher, and will remain secured, for a period of 5 years, as required by the university.

Summary

Case study research is consistent with understanding nurse educator perspectives regarding self-efficacy and support in utilizing LMSs. Critical-case purposive sampling technique can provide a decisive explanation of a phenomenon (Patton, 2002). The proposed research study was to document and analyze the perceptions of nursing faculty that utilize LMSs and the perceived level of support from the institutions in which they work. The findings should be of interest to nursing programs that implement LMSs to guide them in understanding the level of support needed by faculty.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this case study was to understand how nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology, along with levels of self-efficacy, at the institution in which they work. The conceptual framework helps explains the key factors that support the research, and uncovers what is going on and why (Miles & Huberman, 1994). In this study, I used the self-efficacy conceptual framework to explore nurse faculty perspectives on the use of LMS technology. The responses offered insight into how nursing faculty feel about utilizing LMSs, levels of support and faculty development within their institution, and how it affected their self-efficacy. The following research questions were informed by the study purpose, the research method and design.

- How do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology?
- 2. How do nurse faculty rate themselves, based on Bandura's self-efficacy model, regarding the utilization of LMSs technology?

Chapter 5 is organized into the following sections: Demographics, Setting, Data Collection, Data Analysis, Evidence of Trustworthiness, Results by Research Question, and Summary of the Data.

Demographics

In the survey, participants were asked to identify their age and gender. All participants identified themselves as female. Ages ranged from 36 to 65 years. One participant listed her age in the 36- to 45-year range. Three faculty listed their ages as 46

to 55 years. Four faculty listed their age as 56 to 65 years. No participants indicated being under age 35 or over age 65. When asked the length of time in years teaching in nursing, the participants responded in a range from less than 5 years to greater than 30 years. One faculty listed less than 5 years teaching. Three faculty selected 5 to 10 years teaching. One faculty selected 10 to 20 years teaching. One faculty selected 20 to 30 years teaching. Two faculty selected greater than 30 years teaching.

Setting

The setting for this study was Southeastern Pennsylvania, with participants from two counties. Both areas are considered urban. Directors at other schools were invited and seemed agreeable to participate; however, faculty did not respond to the request to contact me. The first part of the data collection consisted of an online survey questionnaire using SurveyMonkey, along with four follow-up interviews via telephone. SurveyMonkey is an online tool where surveys are created and results are instantly tallied, saved, and displayed in a bar-chart format. The results can be exported and saved in a PDF file format for analysis. The setting of local nursing programs and use of SurveyMonkey was chosen for quick access to consenting participants by utilizing email for contact. This study was exploratory in nature so a small sample size from nursing programs in South Eastern Pennsylvania were chosen as a representative of nursing faculty. Interviews were conducted via the telephone and recorded.

Data Collection

Data was collected via SurveyMonkey, using a survey that consisted of 19 questions. The survey link was provided only to participants who indicated their consent. I sent the link to 10 consenting participants, and 8 faculty actually completed the survey. The survey was opened on August 1 and kept open until September 1 to maximize response time. Reminder emails were sent throughout the month. The initial two survey questions covered basic demographic data such as age and gender identity. The third question was about the number of years teaching in nursing. The remaining questions involved perceived self-efficacy, training, and support. The information received in the survey responses is described below.

I conducted interviews via the telephone with four faculty participants. Initially, I labeled the participants with numbers and I randomly selected four of the eight to participate in the interview. No one responded to that request. I sent a reminder email, and two faculty responded and agreed to an interview. The remaining four survey participants were contacted by me via email and I asked to participate in an interview. Of that group, two more faculty then agreed. Interviews lasted from 7 to 16 minutes.

Data Analysis

I collected data from eight consenting participants. In the survey, Questions 1 through 3 asked participants to identify age and gender. All participants identified themselves as female. Ages ranged from 36 to 65 years. Years teaching in nursing ranged from less than 5 years to greater than 30 years.

I wrote the surveys questions to identify levels of self-efficacy based on Bandura's Self-Efficacy Theory (1994). For these questions, a rating scale was used to measure the faculty's self-efficacy assessment, with choices being *very low*, *low*, *somewhat low*, *somewhat high*, *high*, and *very high*. Questions are detailed below: Question 4 was as follows: When faced with a challenge, you would consider yourself as someone that can master most anything? In response, five faculty selected *somewhat high* and three faculty answered *high*. I asked this question based on Research Question 2: How do nurse faculty rate themselves, based on Bandura's self-efficacy model, regarding the utilization of LMSs technology? Self-efficacy models by Bandura (1994), can be used to measure confidence in performing difficult or new challenges. Self-efficacy beliefs influence a person's thinking, including the desire to take on challenges. I asked this question to gain insight into how the nursing faculty perceive their own ability to take on a challenge, such as using a LMS. In this case, all eightfaculty indicated that they were confident in taking on challenges.

Question 5: The commitment level is strong for projects and activities that interest you. One faculty selected *high*. Seven faculty selected *very high*. Commitment to perform a task is another indicator of self-efficacy. I asked this question to gauge participants' commitment levels to help answer Research Question 2. All eight faculty members indicated that they were highly committed to projects and activities of interest. This may be one indicator of a lack of interest in using the LMS within their institution, based on the type of LMS that is currently being implemented.

Question 6: Rate your overall level of self-efficacy, or your belief in your ability, regarding the use of LMSs. Two faculty selected *somewhat low*. Four faculty selected *somewhat high*. Two faculty selected *high*. Two of the faculty indicated having low self-efficacy when it comes to using the LMSs. The other six faculty have a higher belief in their ability to use the LMSs. This question directly corresponds to Research Question 2.

There are several explanations for these results, based on the interview responses, including ease of use, simplicity, and what elements of the LMS are being utilized. Detailed responses of the interviews are discussed within the interview results section.

The next group of questions identified information on the training and use of LMSs by faculty based on research question one, "How do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology?"

Question 7: What amount of training would you say you received on utilizing LMSs? Three faculty selected 1-5 hours. Two faculty selected 11-15 hours. One faculty selected 16-20 hours. One faculty selected 21-25 hours. One faculty selected greater than 25 hours. The amount of training varies. The results equate to 38% of faculty with less than 5 hours of training, 50% of the faculty received between 11-25 hours of training, and 12% of faculty received greater than 25 hours of training. The interview results will help to explain some possible reasons for these numbers.

Question 8: How would you correlate your self-efficacy to the amount of the LMSs training you received? One faculty selected *low*. Two faculty selected *somewhat low*. Three faculty selected *somewhat high*. Two faculty selected *high*. This means five out of eight faculty, or 62% of faculty correlated their level of self-efficacy with the amount of LMS training received. This was asked to help in answering research question two, "How do nurse faculty rate themselves, based on Bandura's self-efficacy model, regarding the utilization of LMSs technology?" in order to better understand if the nursing faculty made a connection to the amount of training provided by their institution had any effect on how comfortable they are using the LMS. This could indicate the need

for additional training or faculty development within the nursing department for improving levels of self-efficacy using LMSs.

Question 9: How much more LMSs training would you like? Two faculty selected 1-5 hours. One faculty selected 11-15 hours. Two faculty selected 16-20 hours. One faculty selected 21-25 hours. Two faculty selected greater than 25 hours. The results show that six out of eight faculty, or 75% of faculty would like an additional 11->25 hours of LMS training, preferably. This question was asked in order to establish faculty perspectives on use and support related to research question one, "How do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology?" Additional training is directly correlated to improvement in self-efficacy using LMSs for the participants of this study.

Question 10: How much of your time is spent productively using the LMSs? One faculty selected "none". Two faculty selected 1-5 hours. Three faculty selected 6-10 hours. One faculty selected 11-15 hours. One faculty selected 16-20 hours. One faculty requested clarification on what to consider as far how much time is spent i.e.; a day, week, month. I clarified that a typical 40-hour work week is the bracket of time I was considering. The results show that six out of eight, or 75% of faculty spend less than 10 hours per week productively using the LMS. This question was asked to seek information to support research question one, "How do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology?" Based on interview results, some of the nursing faculty commented on the LMSs as "grotesquely inefficient" and "not user-friendly". Other reasons for this could relate to what the LMSs are used for. Some mentioned in the

interviews that the LMS is simply used for grades, so that could mean one only logs on to see or input grades, which would take less time than if the LMS were being utilized for much more.

Question 11: What level of comfort do you have uploading documents to the LMSs? One faculty selected *very low*. Two faculty selected *somewhat low*. One faculty selected *somewhat high*. One faculty selected *high*. Three faculty selected *very high*. The results show that three out of eight faculty, or 38% of faculty are not comfortable uploading documents to the LMS, while 62% of faculty are comfortable. Based on research question one, "How do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology?" I wanted to understand comfort levels of the nursing faculty and to understand if the technology itself impedes use. The interview results confirm a medium comfort level for the participants that were interviewed.

The following group of questions were related to institutional support:

Question 12: What overall level of support do you feel from your institution regarding use of the LMSs? One faculty selected *very low*. One faculty selected *low*. One faculty selected *somewhat low*. One faculty selected *somewhat high*. Four faculty selected *very high*. Responses varied, showing that ultimately three out of eight faculty, or 38% of faculty felt low levels of support in using the LMS from their institution. However, four out of eight, or 50% of faculty rated their institutions *very high* on support. This directly answers research question one, "How do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology?". The level of support provided by the institution can have an effect on how the LMSs are utilized. Of the four interviewed, the levels of support from the institutions varied, although no regular workshops are scheduled specific to utilization of the LMSs.

Question 13: How would you rate the amount of time spent by your institution in supporting you in the utilization of LMSs? One faculty selected *very low*. One faculty selected *low*. One faculty selected *somewhat low*. One faculty selected *somewhat high*. Four faculty selected *very high*. Like question 12, in rating the amount of time spent on support of faculty using the LMS, three out of eight, or 38% of faculty selected low options, while five out of eight, or 62% of faculty picked high options. This question provides inquiry related to research question one, "How do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology?".

Question 14: How would you rate the faculty development program provided by your institution regarding the technology of LMSs? One faculty selected *very low*. One faculty selected *low*. One faculty selected *"somewhat low"*. Two faculty selected *somewhat high*. Three faculty selected *very high*. As far as faculty development programs, three out of eight, or 38% of faculty did not think their institution provided an adequate professional development program. However, the remaining 62% of faculty believed their institution's faculty development program was worth high ratings. One possible reason for the latter results could be that was the group of nursing faculty that were not interviewed, meaning the group I spoke with were those selecting the low choices and did not feel their institution was all that supportive by not providing regular faculty development using LMSs. This information helps in answering research question one, "How do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology?".

The remaining questions relate to age as a factor, overall usefulness of the LMSs in nursing education, and additional training to inform the research question one, "How do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology?" and research question two "How do nurse faculty rate themselves, based on Bandura's self-efficacy model, regarding the utilization of LMSs technology?"

Question 15: You consider your age as a factor in your level of self-efficacy utilizing the LMSs. Three faculty selected *very low*. Two faculty selected *somewhat low*. Three faculty selected *somewhat high*. Age is not factor for 62% of faculty, but age is a factor for the remaining 38% of faculty. According to the demographics question in the survey, one participants was between the ages 36-45, three participants were between the ages 46-55, and four participants were between the ages 56-65. This could be significant if age is connected to the use or non-use of technologies. I asked this to determine if there could be a connection to age, self-efficacy, and LMSs, which for more than half of this group of participants, it is not.

Question 16: How would you rate the usefulness of the LMSs? One faculty selected *very low*. One faculty selected *somewhat low*. Three faculty selected *somewhat high*. Three faculty selected *very high*. The results show that six out of eight faculty, or 75% of faculty felt that the LMS is useful. One reason for the high results regarding usefulness again could be that was the group of nursing faculty that were not interviewed, meaning the group I spoke with were those selecting the low choices and did not feel their LMS was useful. Based on the interview results, the LMSs are used for grades and lectures, mostly. This explains why it could be considered useful to some. However, others interviewed stated it is not very useful. Three out of four interviewed participants stated their LMSs was nothing like Blackboard. They knew the capabilities of Blackboard from previous experience and one called their institution's LMSs "hokey" and "clunky".

Question 17: How important would you say the LMSs are to the instruction of nursing students? One faculty selected *very low*. One faculty selected *somewhat low*. One faculty selected *somewhat high*. Two faculty selected *high*. Three faculty selected *very high*. Like question 16, 75% of faculty stated the importance of the LMS in nursing education. This makes sense when you consider the majority of the participants stated the LMS was useful in survey question 16.

Question 18: What is the likelihood you would attend regular workshops on increasing skill levels using LMSs if the institution provided it? One faculty selected *somewhat low*. Two faculty selected *high*. Five faculty selected *very high*. Seven out of eight faculty, or 88%, would attend regular workshops to improve their skills using LMSs. This question was asked to identify if faculty wanted additional support, lending information to research question one, "How do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology?" The interview results confirmed that no regularly scheduled workshops are available to faculty. One interviewed participant stated "Yeah, and we don't have any faculty development workshops that talks about those types of things, you know what I mean, to enhance your teaching". Question 19: If you attended workshops or regular training on LMSs, what amount of increase do you think your self-efficacy level would raise? One faculty selected *somewhat high*. Five faculty selected *high*. Two faculty selected *very high*. Results show that all eight, 100% of faculty, thought additional workshops and training would increase their level of self-efficacy. The results show that the participants in this study connect regular training using the LMSs with their levels of self-efficacy, indicating the need for more training by the institutions.

Interview questions sought information on the type of LMSs used by the faculty. The interviews were recorded and transcribed using Transcriptionhub.com. The transcriptions were reviewed alongside the audio for accuracy, with necessary corrections made. Transcriptions were sent to participants for member-checking. All audio interviews and transcriptions were uploaded into NVIVO. NVIVO software was utilized for coding. Word query search and phrase query search lead to the creation of categories including communication, faculty development, and self-efficacy. The information provided by the faculty is described below. The interview data results are separated below by individual interviewee responses.

Participants are identified by number:

P1: The participant was asked what type of LMS is used within their program. The program in use is called SONIS. She made sure to state immediately that "it's not anything compared to a Blackboard". When asked what elements of the LMS is used by faculty within the nursing program, she stated the PowerPoint lectures are uploaded there and "that's pretty much it". The faculty member went on to say that it is a one-way communication stream from faculty to student. There is the capability to send messages to students, but they don't use it for that because there is a 15-character limit in messaging, so faculty usually just send emails to the student body. She reiterated that "that's why there is no way to compare it to Blackboard or something like that". The faculty member confirmed for me that she was very familiar with Blackboard from previous use. She went on to say that theirs is a small school, the students are available, and so a lot of things are done face-to face. As far as how useful the SONIS is, she stated that the grades are put in there for the coordinators of the students to view and compute the grades throughout the year. Additionally, the SONIS has the capability to accept the list of instructors, email addresses, the classroom, and course dates, although she stated "we don't use it very much because it's not very helpful". As far as uploading the lectures, she stated "we don't upload them at once or students will never come to class". She mentioned uploading both a class version of lectures and a print version with any course announcements. She stated it is confusing and limiting to just the 15-characters, again reiterating that is "one way" form of communication. She went on to say that the SONIS can hold general information, course management and course grades, and attendance. When asked to clarify if any faculty store that information in the SONIS, she stated "No, nobody would look in there, no. The only thing that is in there are the grades". Attendance is not tracked in the SONIS although it has the capability. There's also an area if you want to post to buy things and what textbook is in use, along with faculty profiles containing email addresses and contact information. When asked about faculty development programs available for support in using the LMS, she stated there is

a faculty development committee at the school, but it is the school librarians and the Director of the program that are considered "super users" in SONIS that are designated to teach faculty. The students are given a "workshop or rundown" in how to use the system. When asked to state the level of comfort or self-efficacy for specifically using the LMS, she stated "it's not very hard to use". She went on to say:

It's very simple, yeah. It's pretty simple. It's a simple learning, it's a simple technology platform. And again, compared to Blackboard where you have oh my goodness, every do this do that, blah blah blah. It could be very confusing, it's very basic.

P2: When asked which LMS was in use at her facility, the faculty member stated "We use a system called SONIS, it's very similar to say, Blackboard. Where we put things up online for them to see the communication there, grades are there, so, SONIS is what we use'. She went on to say that the elements used include posting the Power Point slide presentations, announcements to students because they have their emails there. Power Point lectures can be loaded to the SONIS before or after scheduled lectures for student access. Additionally, there is the text message capability in the system. The grades are posted in the system as well. She reiterated that "it's very similar to Blackboard". When asked to describe how texts are received if sent, clarifying if that meant via cell phone, she stated that they could receive texts to their cellphones, however they use their Prime email accounts, which is the hospital system email account in which the school operates and functions. Assignments and reading lists have also been uploaded to the SONIS, although assignments are also given out during class. Faculty development inquiry led to her response:

Yes. The librarian pretty much helps to do like a little training with her and then she's also available for support if there are issues with SONIS. So, I would say, our school librarian is pretty much primarily the one like when I first came here, she is the one that taught me how to use it.

She went on to say that the students get an introductory class as freshman, but then faculty themselves take it on case by case, one by one with students going forward. As for stated level of self-efficacy using the LMS:

My goodness. I mean, I'm comfortable now uploading documents and reaching out to students through it and checking grades. So, I would say I'm at a medium comfort level. I'm certainly not an expert by any mean. I'll tell you that, I mean, I feel blessed here because honestly, working at other places usually get the email about it and you're kind of on your own, so.

I appreciated the response saying I was glad she told me that because that is what I am trying to find out. She responded:

And even as an employee here honestly, we're connected to the hospital and the hospital is changing systems and basically get emails but you need to sign on to the systems but no real, I mean an email instruction and that's it. No class or anything like that. Yeah, I mean that is kind of out there happening unfortunately. Yeah, and we don't have any faculty development workshops that talks about those types of things, you know what I mean, to enhance your teaching. You never have any in-services on that. These are the things you can use online to enhance your teaching and you never get that, so.

P3: When asked what LMS is used within the nursing program the faculty member told me SONIS. I clarified if she had used any other LMS and she stated "mostly just SONIS". As for the elements of the LMS that are in use by the program, she stated:

SONIS allows us to post our documentation and students can go there and we can actually email them. If we need it for SONIS, we can also post our grades on SONIS.

In addition to the email capability, she stated the faculty mostly email via the hospital email system mail. The school functions within a hospital system and as a part of the system the students and staff use the system email. In discussing faculty development in connection with using the LMS, she stated:

We do have, yeah, we do have a faculty development program to allow us to get there to upload our documentation there. And when they first came out with this, we had a representative from the company who came here to talk about how to use it. It's not very user friendly. I'll probably get in trouble for that. We do have our recruitment specialist who has special training in SONIS. And if we have a problem, we can go to her and she sends out all of the information from the company to all of us. As for her level of self-efficacy using the LMS, she said she would say "medium". Clarifying the meaning of medium in the survey, I asked her if her comfort was "somewhat high" and she could not remember her initial response on the survey.

P4: When asked what type of LMS is in use within the nursing program, the faculty member stated "we are using a hokey program called Campus Cruiser". I said I had heard of it and she said "Yeah, you don't want to hear of it". I asked if it wasn't good and she reiterated "No, it's not. It's hokey. It's very inefficient, terribly, terribly, terribly inefficient". She went on to say that in the Fall of next year, they would be switching to a different program called Canvas. She clarified that Campus Cruiser is like a Blackboard, but "it's just clunky, very, very clunky". When she was asked, what elements are there for teaching she said:

Oh, everything is there. It's just 300 buttons we have to push to get it. So, it's like a Blackboard ultimately, but it's go here, find there, go through the list, pick it up, move it around, blah, blah. It's really ridiculous.

She continued on to say that the system works and "that's so clunky, yeah. It's grotesquely inefficient". More commentary on what elements the nursing program uses from the LMS included:

We post the course on there and, on the message board. We use the grade book, we can email people, we have a front page with information, there is a site to upload papers, articles, anything you want to upload. So, you've it got available. It's just clunky.

As for support or faculty development using the LMS, she stated that the "whole IT operation supports it". When asked if there are regular supports offered, like seminars annually or bi-annually, she stated they use a program called Lynda.com. She continued

on to say that they (the IT department) have done intermittent seminars "here and there but nothing regular". When asked her level of comfort or self-efficacy, she stated she was "fairly new at it, about 60%. I know enough to get by, enough to be dangerous".

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Evidence of trustworthiness was established through a specific data collection process, precision note-taking, review of notes and journaling, audio recording of interviews, transcription and audio comparing, and participant review of transcriptions.

Credibility represents the authenticity of the data or the participant views and the explanation and depiction of them by the researcher (Polit & Beck, 2012). "A qualitative study is considered credible if the descriptions of human experience are immediately recognized by individuals that share the same experience. To support credibility when reporting a qualitative study, the researcher should demonstrate engagement, methods of observation, and audit trails" (Pope, 2014, p.89). Audit trails were maintained through journal notes with reflective thoughts, audio of the interviews with transcription, and data analysis information.

Transferability occurs when the same study can be conducted in other settings and situations (Polit & Beck, 2012). Transferability was established through detailing the description of the methodology, participants, and data collection procedures to provide sufficient information for readers to associate the findings with their own experiences.

Dependability was established through the detailed data collection process which should be easily replicated by future researchers. The process included a survey, collecting data from participants. Following the survey, a selection of the participants was interviewed for further clarity on the survey questions. Detailed notes and journaling was maintained throughout the process.

Confirmability is the researcher's way to prove the data is representative of what the participants revealed. Confirmability was established through reflexivity. Reflexive journals detailed how the findings were established. Conclusions should be results directly found in the data (Pope, 2014). One way to ensure this is to keep detailed notes and direct statements from participants. Confirmability ensures the data has been collected and analyzed without bias on the part of the researcher. One way to avoid bias is through clarification. Participants were asked clarifying questions regarding their responses if there was uncertainty in understanding the initial response given in the interview. Participants were allowed to review the transcription of the interview as a form of member-checking. One way to ensure neutrality of the findings is to keep an audit trail of the research process. For survey data, results were collected automatically through Survey Monkey and the data was analyzed based off of the number of responses through central tendency. Audio transcripts were reviewed alongside the audio of the interviews for accuracy. In addition, the transcriptions were sent to each participant via email to ensure their responses were accurately transcribed. This form of member-checking collected feedback from participants to validate the translation of their responses and correct information that had been transcribed inaccurately.

Results by Research Question

Results from this case study are qualitative and based on information received from survey and interview responses. The results exposed differences in opinion on the part of the faculty when it came to support using LMSs from their institutions. Survey results revealed high marks for faculty development programs, however, interview results were drastically different. For use and support inquiry, faculty that participated in the interviews did not give high ratings to their faculty development programs, stating there is no regular workshops scheduled when it comes to using LMSs. For the self-efficacy inquiry, qualitative results varied, however most respondents gave themselves high marks in self-efficacy connected to the use of LMSs.

For the question "how do nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMSs technology?", results were divided. The survey data results showed that six out of eight faculty, or 75% of faculty, felt that the LMS is useful. Additionally, six out of eight faculty, or 75% of faculty, also felt that the LMS is important in the teaching of nursing students. Interviewed faculty stated their LMS was "very basic", "simple", and "not very hard to use". They also stated the LMSs are mostly used for uploading lectures, PowerPoints, and grades. Most considered themselves at a medium comfort level as far as use. The survey data results showed that as for support, three out of eight, or 38% of faculty, did not think their institution provided adequate support, selecting "very low", "low", and "somewhat low" choices. However, the remaining five, or 62% of faculty, believed their institution's support was worth "somewhat high" and "very high" choices. The interview data revealed that support is available in varying forms, either as one-on-one with a librarian, or through a website platform that offers the user resources to utilize on their own time. The one faculty mentioned a specific website that is provided by the school. Upon investigation, I found

this website is for faculty to select and schedule learning modules to increase their skills. The survey data results showed that as for faculty development programs, three out of eight, or 38 % of faculty, did not think their institution provided an adequate professional development program, selecting "very low", "low", and "somewhat low" choices. However, survey data results showed the remaining 62% of faculty believed their institution's faculty development program was worth high ratings, selecting "somewhat high" and "very high" choices. One reason for this result could be that survey participants that were not interviewed could have selected these high responses.

In regards to the amount of training received using the LMSs, the survey data results varied. The results equate to 38% of faculty with less than 5 hours of training, 50% of the faculty received between 11-25 hours of training, and 12% of faculty received greater than 25 hours of training. No regularly scheduled faculty development programs were scheduled, specific to the use of the LMSs, in either school that participated in the interview portion of this study.

For the question, "how do nurse faculty rate themselves, based on Bandura's selfefficacy model, regarding the utilization of LMSs technology?", the results varied. Survey data results show six out of eight faculty, or 75% of participants, rated their overall level of self-efficacy, or the belief in their ability- regarding the use of LMSswith "somewhat high, "high", and "very high" choices. The results connect to interview responses that explain the type of LMSs in place. Three of the interviewed faculty were from one school and all use the same LMS. The LMS in use at this particular school was labeled "not hard to use" and "very basic". This could explain higher self-efficacy levels in those that use this LMS. When asked to correlate the amount of training to reported self-efficacy levels, the survey data results revealed that more than half of the participants, five out of eight faculty, or 62% of participants, selected "somewhat high" and "high" choices, connecting the amount of training received to their reported level of self-efficacy, or comfort, using LMSs. Again, this could be that those that were not interviewed gave high responses, or it could also mean that those that had the individual training from the librarian had very good training and that is why their self-efficacy is high. Furthermore, survey data results showed that five out of eight faculty, or 88% of participants, selected "high" and "very high" choices when asked if they would attend regular workshops to increase skills in utilizing the LMSs. Survey data results showed that all participants selected "somewhat high", "high", and "very high" choices when asked if additional training would increase levels of self-efficacy using LMSs.

Summary of the Data

This study pursued the nursing faculty perspectives on LMS use, support, and levels of self-efficacy. Participants were confident in their ability to take on challenges and had high commitment levels when projects and activities interest them. This was important to establish early on, since this study sought levels of self-efficacy of faculty using LMSs. The survey questions revealed how faculty feel about their confidence and commitment levels. High confidence and commitment is directly related to higher selfefficacy levels. Additionally, faculty rated their self-efficacy levels in the high range in using LMSs. The interview results support the survey results as well. Interview results revealed that faculty are comfortable using their specific LMSs. Faculty revealed that their LMS was relatively basic and easy to use. As for support and use, the survey results were somewhat different than the interview results. Participants in the survey provided high marks for their institutions faculty development programs in the area of utilizing LMSs. The interview results differed. Participants' responses exposed a lack of support and faculty development when it comes to the LMSs.

In Chapter 5, I will discuss the interpretation of the findings, recommendations for future research, and the implications of the research. In addition, the importance of this study in future research and competency-based program development is presented.

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Recommendations

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to understand how nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMS technology, along with levels of self-efficacy, at the institution in which they work. The research questions addressed how nursing faculty perceive the use and support of integrated online LMS technology, along with levels of self-efficacy, at the institution in which they work. The nature of this study was a case study approach. The case study design was consistent with the stated purpose of the study. First, data were collected through an online survey designed to solicit stated levels of self-efficacy, and gauge perspectives on LMS use and support for faculty. The survey data were then connected to data collected in follow-up interviews. The interviews served to clarify survey responses through deeper discussion of the topics of technology support using LMSs and stated levels of self-efficacy. Finally, member-checking acted as a final data source. The data collection and interpretation was guided by Bandura's (1994) selfefficacy theory. This case study provided valuable insight into professional development and necessary levels of support based on the perspectives of a sample of nursing faculty who use LMSs within their teaching.

Interpretation of the Findings

Since there was very little current literature in this area, I wanted to conduct a study on nursing faculty who use LMSs. According to Rock (2014), "Nursing faculty development programs are critical to cultivate new faculty into skilled educators, provide veteran faculty with opportunities to develop and strengthen skills, and initiate needed

changes in nursing education" (p. 679), but the number of nurse educator candidates is shrinking. The use of online educational practice is important in the development of competent, practicing nurses (Rock, 2014).

One of the findings of my study was that participants had a negative opinion of the LMS in use at their institution. A few of the interviewees mentioned their prior use of the LMS platform Blackboard and how much better it was than the LMS platform in use within their institution, noting that their current LMS does not compare to "something like Blackboard." The results may have been quite different if the faculty liked their LMS platform. Increased time and skill demands are placed on nurse educators to acclimate to the current use of technologies such as LMSs (Button, Harrington, & Belan, 2013). Faculty described their platform as "clunky" and "grotesquely inefficient", however, the majority of the faculty did consider the LMSs useful.

The results of my study expand on previous literature by uncovering how the nursing faculty feel about the use of LMSs. The results provide current, specific information regarding self-efficacy of nursing faculty utilizing LMSs. As stated in Chapter 2, previous studies covered areas outside of nursing education, and any literature on nursing faculty was not recent enough to be relevant. The results of my study showed that even though most faculty felt the use of LMSs is important to the student's education, some faculty gave low marks to the amount of time and support provided by their institution when it comes to using their LMS. Despite the initial training the participants had when they began using their institution's LMS, the majority of the survey participants desired additional training. In fact, all of the participants surveyed

said they would attend regular workshops. Although the survey data revealed that most of the participants gave high ratings to their faculty development programs related to use of LMSs, the interviewed participants stated that such programs were not regularly scheduled. For the interviews, three of the four participants were from the same school of nursing. One was from a different school of nursing. Since faculty from three schools responded to the survey, and interviewees were from two of those schools, it may be that the faculty from that third school were the ones who gave the high marks to the faculty development programs. This could explain the apparent discrepancy between survey answers and interview answers.

According to the literature reviewed for this study, teachers report a lack of selfefficacy and confidence due to deficiency in their own online experiences with technology (Duprez, Van Hooft, Dwarswaard, Van Sta, Hecke, & Strating, 2016; He, 2014;). Based on Bandura's theory, high confidence and commitment is directly related to higher self-efficacy levels. The survey data revealed how faculty feel about their confidence and commitment levels, with *high* and *very high* marks. However, faculty rated their self-efficacy levels in the *somewhat high* and *high* range in using LMSs. This can be interpreted to mean that although faculty are very confident and committed overall, they may not be so confident and committed specifically in their use of their LMS. Three of the faculty talked about only using their LMSs for posting grades and lectures. Upon investigation, I discovered that the capabilities of the LMS in use at their institution include creating online forums, displaying course schedules, taking attendance, setting reminders, adding booklists, sending/receiving emails, grading, and uploading course materials. Both in survey responses and interviews, most faculty indicated that they thought their LMSs were very basic in style and simple to use. Interview results also revealed that faculty are comfortable using their specific LMSs. This could explain the mostly high self-efficacy levels reported by these faculty members. The perceived levels of self-efficacy had a direct correlation with adoption and use of the technology, as they did in Kim and Kim (2013). Understanding faculty perspectives can greatly influence how effectively a LMS is used (Cheok & Wong, 2015). Interview results confirmed that some faculty have the support of the librarian when there are issues using the LMS. The survey results revealed faculty believed there is a correlation between their level of selfefficacy and the amount of training received. Factors that predict satisfaction included ease of use, organizational support, training, attitude, interaction, and self-efficacy (Cheok & Wong, 2015). It seems some do feel supported by their institution but would like more training using the LMSs.

Limitations of the Study

This study was exploratory in nature, thus only a small sample of schools/faculty were chosen to participate, unlike the larger sample seen in a broader study. This study was limited to nursing programs within an area of one state in the eastern region of the U.S. This study was also limited by time and financial constraints of the researcher. Limitations included not extending participation to all the faculty within the nursing program. Specific guidelines for identification of participants was inclusive to those that are nursing faculty and have utilized a LMS. One nursing faculty member declined to participate as she felt she did not qualify as a participant, stating she did not use the LMS available to her in the program. The survey opened on August 1 and initially was only going to be kept open for 2 weeks. When responses were limited, an additional 2 weeks was added to allow for more responses. The number of participants who completed and returned the survey was an issue; however, persistent reminders were sent to make every effort to get as many participants as willing to complete the survey. Invitations were sent multiple times to the schools. The directors of two of the schools stated faculty were on summer break until the end of August. The suggestion was to extend the time period for the survey. Once classes were back in session, one school lost the long-time Director of Nursing to an illness. This situation could have been very preoccupying to staff and faculty of that program and a reason why none participated in the study.

Recommendations

With the application of Bandura's self-efficacy theory and the information gathered in this study, the directors of the nursing programs will have a baseline knowledge of what level of self-efficacy faculty have, as well as levels of support needed and desired when it pertains to LMS utilization. Faculty agreed that their self-efficacy is connected to the amount LMS training that was provided. Furthermore, all faculty desired more training on using the LMSs. The nursing programs, directors, and faculty development committees in educational institutions can perform additional inquiry to uncover implementations that can improve the levels of self-efficacy for the nursing educators. In addition, further inquiry can aid the programs in uncovering what is working and what is not, as far as the level of support provided, and what can be done to make levels of support even higher for the faculty.

Implications

This research can contribute to positive social change in the nursing education environment by informing future practice for nursing programs utilizing LMSs. The research can benefit stakeholders in nursing education, faculty, directors, and support developers, by addressing the use and support of current LMSs. The results offer insight into the faculty perceptions on self-efficacy using LMSs and can be of use to other nursing programs. This research can contribute to improving the amount of support provided to nursing faculty to promote higher levels of self-efficacy in the utilization of LMSs through recommendations for future practice. Recommendations for practice include regular workshops on utilizing the LMSs to maintain high self-efficacy of the nursing faculty. Another recommendation would be obtaining feedback from nursing faculty on a consistent basis to gauge how the LMSs are working for them. If nursing faculty can provide input that can help improve use, support, and self-efficacy, faculty can be an integral part of faculty development within their institution. It is also recommended that further research be performed within additional nursing schools to inform stakeholders of changes needed in the LMS platform being used or in faculty development desired by faculty.

Conclusion

Due to the dated literature and lack of details on the topic of LMS use in nursing education, there was a need to investigate the perceptions of self-efficacy and perceptions of support by nursing faculty. I had been teaching nursing myself and realized the technology was not being utilized to its fullest potential. In fact, I noticed that some colleagues were not using the technology at all. The nursing faculty would have other faculty, including myself, upload documents for them because they stated they did not feel comfortable with that task. I started searching for literature on the topic of nursing faculty self-efficacy and LMS use. The review of literature required the inclusion of literature outside the area of nursing education to support the need for my study. Researchers in other disciplines in education have inquired about the perspectives and levels of self-efficacy for the faculty and also their use of the LMSs for instruction. This research filled the gap in the literature regarding the levels of self-efficacy for nursing education faculty using LMSs. The findings of this study provide university nursing programs a starting point for addressing the need for faculty development, specifically in using LMSs, to improve faculty use of technology for the betterment of nursing education.

References

- Afzal, M. T., Maqbool, S., Ambreen, M., & Naseer, N. (2011). The effect of INTEL
 Teach Computer Assisted workshop on prospective teachers' selfconfidence and
 selfconcept: Prospective teachers and technology. *International Journal of Technology, Knowledge & Society*, 7(6). Retrieved from Academic Search
 Premier.
- Al-Alawneh, M. K. (2014). Examining E-learning barriers as perceived by faculty members of Engineering Colleges in the Jordanian Universities. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 15(1). Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Al-Busaidi, K. (2013). An empirical investigation linking learners' adoption of blended learning to their intention of full e-learning. *Behaviour & Information Technology*. 32(11). 1168-1176. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Almarashdeh, I. (2016). Sharing instructors experience of learning management system:
 A technology perspective of user satisfaction in distance learning
 course. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *63*, 249-255. Retrieved from Academic
 Search Premier.
- Almeida, C., Jameson, J., Riesen, T., & McDonnell, J. (2016). Urban and rural preservice special education teachers' computer use and perceptions of self-efficacy.
 Rural Special Education Quarterly, 35(3), 12. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Alrushiedat, N., & Olfman, L. (2014, January). Anchoring for self-efficacy and success.In System Sciences (HICSS), 2014 47th Hawaii International Conference on

System Science (pp. 13-21). IEEE. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.

- Alshammari, S. H., Ali, M. B., & Rosli, M. S. (2016). The influences of technical support, self-efficacy and instructional design on the usage and acceptance of LMS: A comprehensive review. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, *15*(2), 116. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Axley, L. (2008). The integration of technology into nursing curricula: Supporting faculty via the technology fellowship program. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing, 13*, (3). Retrieved from http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories

/ANAMarketplace/ANAPeriodicals/OJIN

- Bandura, A. (1994). Self-efficacy. In V.S. Ramachaudran (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of human* behavior (Vol. 4, pp. 71-81). New York: Academic Press. (Reprinted in *Encyclopedia of mental health*, by H. Friedman, Ed., 1998, San Diego, CA: Academic Press).
- Bandura, A. (1995). *Self-efficacy in changing societies*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Barberà, E., Layne, L., & Gunawardena, C. (2014). Designing online interaction to address disciplinary competencies: A cross-country comparison of faculty perspectives. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 15(2). DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v15i2.1418
- Benedict, M., & Bradley, D. (2010). A peek at the revised Nursing Professional
 Development: Scope and standards of practice. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 41(5), 195-196. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.

- Benjamin, R., Ostrow, L. (2008). Technology in nursing education. *International Journal for Human Caring*, 12(2), 57-64. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Benson, R., Brack, C., & Samarwickrema, G. (2012). Teaching with wikis: Improving staff development through action research. *Research in Learning Technology*, 20.
- Berry, J. (2009). Technology support in nursing education: Clickers in the classroom. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 30, 5, 295-298. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Blake, H. (2009). Staff perceptions of e-learning for teaching delivery in healthcare. *Learning in Health & Social Care*, 8(3), 223-234. Retrieved from EBSCOhost databases.
- Bursal, M., & Yigit, N. (2012). Pre-service science and technology teachers' efficacy beliefs about information and communication technologies (ICT) Usage and material design. *Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice*, 12(2), 1084-1088.
- Button, D., Harrington, A., & Belan, I. (2014). E-learning & information communication technology (ICT) in nursing education: A review of the literature. *Nurse education today*, 34(10), 1311-1323. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Cheok, M. L., & Wong, S. L. (2015). Predictors of eLearning satisfaction in teaching and learning for school teachers: a literature review. *International Journal of Instruction*, 8(1), 75-90. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Chesney, S., & Benson, J. (2012). 'Anything other than silence': using a personal learning system for continuing professional development. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 49(1), 73-82. Retrieved from Academic

Search Premier.

- Chiasson, K., Terras, K., & Smart, K. (2015). Faculty perceptions of moving a face-toface course to online instruction. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning* (Online), 12(3), 321. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Choi, J., & Zucker, D. M. (2013). Self-assessment of nursing informatics competencies for doctor of nursing practice students. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 29(6), 381-387. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Christianson, L., Tiene, D., Luft, P. (2002). Examining online instruction in undergraduate nursing education. *Distance Education*, 23, 2, 213-229. Retrieved from EBSCOhost databases.
- Collins, L. J., & Liang, X. (2014). Task relevance in the design of online professional development for teachers of ELLs: A q methodology study. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 15(3), 268-281. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Conde, M. Á., García-Peñalvo, F. J., Rodríguez-Conde, M. J., Alier, M., Casany, M. J., & Piguillem, J. (2014). An evolving Learning Management System for new educational environments using 2.0 tools. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 22(2), 188-204. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Cook, D. & Steinert, Y. (2013). Online learning for faculty development: A review of the literature. *Medical teacher*, 35(11), 930-937. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.

Crocetti, J. (2014). Nursing clinical faculty self-efficacy following an orientation using

simulation. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *35*(3), 193-194. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.

- Davis, R. & Surajballi, V. (2014). Successful implementation and use of a learning management system. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 45(9), 379-381. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- De Smet, C., Valcke, M., Schellens, T., De Wever, B., & Vanderlinde, R. (2016). A
 Qualitative study on learning and teaching with learning paths in a learning
 management system. *JSSE-Journal of Social Science Education*, 15(1), 27-37.
 Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Doherty, I. (2014). Professional development: designing for the cognitive and affective domains. *Journal of Learning Design*, 7(3), 1-15. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Duprez, V., Van Hooft, S. M., Dwarswaard, J., Staa, A., Van Hecke, A., & Strating, M.
 M. (2016). The development and psychometric validation of the self-efficacy and performance in self-management support (SEPSS) Instrument. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 72(6), 1381–1395. doi: 10.1111/jan.12918
- Efe, H. A. (2015). The relation between science student teachers' educational use of web
 2.0 technologies and their computer self-efficacy. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 14(1). Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Fathema, N., Shannon, D., & Ross, M. (2015). Expanding the technology acceptance model (TAM) to examine faculty use of learning management systems (LMSs) In higher education institutions. *Journal of Online Learning & Teaching*, *11*(2).

Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.

- Fiedler, R., Giddens, J., & North, S. (2014). Faculty experience of a technological innovation in nursing education. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 35(6), 387-391. doi:10.5480/13-1188
- Filer, D. (2010). Using technology to increase classroom participation. Nursing Education Perspectives, 31, 4, 247-250. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Findik, D., & Özkan, S. (2013). A model for instructors' adoption of learning management systems: Empirical validation in higher education context. *TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, *12*(2). Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- George, L., Locasto, L., Pyo, K., W Cline T. (2017). Effect of the dedicated education unit on nursing student self-efficacy: A quasi-experimental research study. *Nurse Education in Practice*. March; 23:48-53. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Galvis, H. A. (2012). Understanding beliefs, teachers' beliefs and their impact on the use of computer technology. *Profile Issues in Teachers Professional Development*, 14(2), 95-112. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.

Ghaemi, H. (2011). The utilization of web-based technology as predictor of faculty insights of support for the implementation of eLearning. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, *12*(1), 54-61. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.

Ginn, M. H., & Hammond, A. (2012). Online education in public affairs: current state

and emerging Issues. *Journal of Public Affairs Education*, 247-270. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.

- Gokoglu, S., Ozturk, M., & Cakiroglu, U. (2015). The Systems-Based Mentoring Model within the process of technology integration. Participatory Educational Research (PER) Special Issue 2015-II, pp., 70-77; 5-7 November, 2015 Available online at http://www.partedres.com ISSN: 2148-61 Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.17275/per.15.spi.2.9
- González, C. (2012). The relationship between approaches to teaching, approaches to eteaching and perceptions of the teaching situation in relation to e-learning among higher education teachers. *Instructional Science*, *40*(6), 975-998. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Grady, J. (2012). The virtual clinical practicum: An innovative telehealth model for clinical nursing education. Nursing Education Perspectives, 32, (3), 189-194.Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Gray, D. & Rutledge, C. (2014). Using new technologies: An educational strategy fostering collaboration and telehealth skills in nurse practitioners. *The Journal for Nurse Practitioners, 10*(10), 840-844. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Greener, S., & Wakefield, C. (2014). Developing confidence in the use of digital tools in teaching. In *European Conference on e-Learning* (p. 197). Academic Conferences International Limited. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Griffin-Sobel, J., Acee, A., Sharoff, L., Cobus-Kuo, L., Woodstock-Wallace, A., Dornbaum, M. (2010). A transdisciplinary approach to faculty development in

nursing education technology. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *31*, 1, 41-43. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases

- Hampel, G. (2014). Learning in a virtual environment. *Acta Technica Corviniensis-Bulletin of Engineering*, 7(4), 35. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Hauser, R., Paul, R., & Bradley, J. (2012). Computer self-efficacy, anxiety, and learning in online versus face to face medium. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, 11(1), 141-154. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- He, Y. (2014). Universal Design for Learning in an Online Teacher Education Course:
 Enhancing Learners' Confidence to Teach Online. *Journal of Online Learning* and Teaching, 10(2), 283. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Herman, J. (2012). Faculty Development Programs: The frequency and variety of professional development programs available to online Instructors. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 16(5), 87-106. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Holmes, B. (2013). School teachers' continuous professional development in an online learning community: lessons from a case study of an eTwinning Learning Event. *European Journal of Education*, 48(1), 97-112. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Hwang, J., & Park, H. (2011). Factors associated with nurses' informatics competency.
 Computers Informatics Nursing, 29(4), 256-262. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.

Jokinen, P., & Mikkonen, I. (2013). Teachers' experiences of teaching in a blended

learning environment. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *13*(6), 524-528. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.

- Jones, D., Wolf, D. (2010). Shaping the future of nursing education today using distance education and technology. *The Association of Black Nursing Faculty Journal, Spring ed.*, 44-47. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Kalb, K., O'Conner-Von, S., Schipper, L., Watkins, A., & Yetter, D. (2012). Educating leaders in nursing: Faculty perspectives. *International Journal of Nursing Education Scholarship*, 9(1), 1-13. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Kenny, R., Van Neste-Kenny, J., Burton, P., Park, C., & Qayyum, A. (2012).
 Using self-efficacy to assess the readiness of nursing educators and students for mobile learning. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, *13*(3), 277-296. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Kim, S., & Kim, M. (2013). Comparison of perception toward the adoption and intention to use smart education between elementary and secondary school teachers.
 TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology, *12*(2). Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Kirkham, A. (2016). Enhancing Nurse Faculty Retention Through Quality WorkEnvironments: A Photovoice Project. *Nursing Economics*, *34*(6), 289.
- Kowalczyk, N. (2014). Perceived barriers to online education by radiologic science educators. *Radiologic Technology*. 85 (5), 486-493. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases

Lavrakas, P. J. (2008). Encyclopedia of survey research methods: SAGE Publications

Ltd doi: 10.4135/9781412963947

- Lee, J., Lee, Y., Lee, S., Bae, J. (2016). Effects of high-fidelity patient simulation led clinical reasoning course: Focused on nursing core competencies, problem solving, and academic self-efficacy. *Japan Journal of Nursing Science*. *January*;13(1):20-28. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Lee, D., Paulus, T., Loboda, I., Phipps, G., Wyatt, T., Myers, C., & Mixer, S. (2010). A faculty development program for nurse educators learning to teach online.
 Tech Trends, 54, (6), 20-28. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier
- Lilly, K., Fitzpatrick, J., & Madigan, E. (2015). Barriers to Integrating Information
 Technology Content in Doctor of Nursing Practice Curricula. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 31(3), 187-199. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Lochner, B., Conrad, R. M., & Graham, E. (2015). Secondary teachers' concerns in adopting learning management systems: A US Perspective. *TechTrends*, 59(5), 62-70. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier.
- Mancuso-Murphy, J. (2007). Distance education in nursing: An integrated review of online nursing students' experiences with technology delivered instruction.
 Journal of Nursing Education, 46, 6, 252-260. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- McCord, A., & Franetovic, M. (2014). Supporting organization development by linking systems implementation and faculty orientation. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases

McKinney, D. C., & Whitaker, M. K. (2013, June). Implementation of desire2learn at a

rural state college in Georgia: A case study on faculty perceptions of readiness. In *EdMedia: World Conference on Educational Media and Technology* (Vol.

2013, No. 1, pp. 592-598). Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases

McNeil, B., Elfrank, V., Bickford, C., Pierce, S., Beyea, S., Averill, C., & Klappenbach,
C. (2003). Nursing information technology knowledge, skills, and participation of student nurses, nursing faculty, and clinicians: A U.S. survey. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 42, 8, 341-349. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases

- McQuiggan, C. A. (2012). Faculty Development for Online Teaching as a Catalyst for Change. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 16(2), 27-61. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Merillat, L., & Scheibmeir, M. (2016). Developing a quality improvement process to optimize faculty success. *Online Learning*, 20(3). Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Miller, L., Russell, C., Cheng, A., Skarbek, A. (2015). Evaluating undergraduate nursing students' self-efficacy and competence in writing: Effects of a writing intensive intervention. *Nurse Education in Practice* [serial online]. May;15(3):174-180.
 Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Naismith, L., Lee, B. H., & Pilkington, R. M. (2011). Collaborative learning with a wiki:
 Differences in perceived usefulness in two contexts of use. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 27(3), 228-242. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier

databases

- National League for Nursing (2008). *Position statement: Preparing the next generation of nurses to practice.* Retrieved from National League for Nursing website: http://www.nln.org/aboutnln/positionstatements/informatics_052808.pdf
- Nelson, R., Meyers, L., Rizzolo, M., Rutar, P., Proto, M., & Newbold, S. (2006). The evolution of educational information systems and nurse faculty roles. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 27, 5, 247-253. Retrieved from EBSCOhost databases
- Nguyen, D., & Zierler, B. (2011). A survey of nursing faculty needs for training in use of new technologies for education and practice. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 50(4), 181. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Oh, E., Yang, Y., Yoo, J., Lim, J., Sung, J. (2016). Mixed method research investigating evidence-based practice self-efficacy, course needs, barriers, and facilitators:
 From the academic faculty and clinical nurse preceptors. *Journal Of Korean Academy Of Nursing* August;46(4):501-513. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Petit dit Dariel, O., Wharrad, H., & Windle, R. (2010). Developing Q-methodology to explore staff views toward the use of technology in nursing education. *Nurse Researcher, 18*, 1, 58-71. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Polit, D.F., & Beck, C.T. (2012). *Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice*. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.

- Pollacia, L., & McCallister, T. (2009). Using Web 2.0 technologies to meet quality matters [TM](QM) requirements. *Journal of Information Systems Education*, 20(2), 155. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Porter-Wenzlaffs, L. (2013). Unfolding multicourse case study: Developing students' administrative competencies. *Nurse educator*, 38(6), 241-245. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Posey, L. (2013, June). Best Practices in Blended Learning: Snapshots from a Hybrid
 Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) Program. In *Proceedings of World Conference on Educational Media and Technology* (pp. 350-355). Retrieved from
 Academic Search Premier databases
- Prior, D. D., Mazanov, J., Meacheam, D., Heaslip, G., & Hanson, J. (2016). Attitude, digital literacy and self-efficacy: Flow-on effects for online learning behavior. *The Internet and Higher Education*, *29*, 91-97. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Ragan, L. C., Bigatel, P. M., Kennan, S. S., & Dillon, J. M. (2012). From research to practice: Towards the development of an integrated and comprehensive faculty development program. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, *16*(5), 71-86. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases

Rajalahti, E., Heinonen, J., & Saranto, K. (2014). Developing nurse educators' computer skills towards proficiency in nursing informatics. *Informatics for Health and Social Care*, *39*(1), 47-66. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases

TechTrends. 52(1) 24-25. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases

- Robina, K. & Anderson, M. (2010). Online teaching efficacy of nurse faculty. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 168-175. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Rock, K. Z. (2014). Transferring Learning from Faculty Development to the Classroom.
 Journal of Nursing Education, 53(12), 678-684. Retrieved from Academic Search
 Premier databases
- Rucker, R., Edwards, K., & Frass, L. R. (2015). Assessing faculty experiences with and perceptions of an internal quality assurance process for undergraduate distributed learning courses: a pilot study. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, *16*(4), 35. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Saadé, R. G., & Kira, D. (2009). Computer anxiety in e-learning: The effect of computer self-efficacy. *Journal of Information Technology Education*, 8(177-191).
 Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Salyers, V., Carter, L., Barrett, P., & Williams, L. (2010). Evaluating student and faculty satisfaction with a pedagogical framework. *International Journal of E-Learning*& *Distance Education*, 24(3). Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Sharif, A., & Cho, S. (2015). 21st-Century instructional designers: Bridging the perceptual gaps between identity, practice, impact and professional development.
 Revista de Universidad y Sociedad del Conocimiento, *12*(3), 72-85. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases

Siadaty, M., Gasevic, D., Jovanovic, J., Pata, K., Milikic, N., Holocher-Ertl, T., & Hatala,

M. (2012). Self-regulated workplace learning: A pedagogical framework and semantic web-based environment. *Educational Technology & Society*, *15*(4), 75-88. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases

- Sowan, A. K., & Jenkins, L. S. (2013). Use of the seven principles of effective teaching to design and deliver an interactive hybrid nursing research course. *Nursing education perspectives*, 34(5), 315-322. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Stanley, I. (2015). What impact does a change-agent have on faculty use of technology? *JALT CALL Journal*, *11*(2). Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Stebbins, R., (2001). *Exploratory Research in the Social Sciences*. Sage UniversityPapers Series on Qualitative Research Methods, Vol 48. Thousand Oaks, CA:Sage.
- Stein, S., (2014). Lessons learned building the online history program at the university of Memphis. *Hist. Teacher*, 47(3), 373-386. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Stott, A., & Mozer, M. (2016). Connecting learners online: Challenges and issues for nurse education—Is there a way forward? *Nurse Education Today, 39*, 152-154.
 Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Sword, S. (2012). The transition to online teaching as experienced by nurse educators. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *33*, 4, 269

271. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases

Staggers, N., Gassert, C., & Curran, C. (2001). Informatics competencies for nurses at

four levels of practice. *Journal of Nursing Education, 40*, 7, 303-316. Retrieved from EBSCOhost databases

- Swenty, C. & Titzer, J. (2014). A sense of urgency: Integrating technology and informatics in advance practice nursing education. *The Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, 10(10), e57-e67. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Tacy, J., Northam, S. & Wieck, K. L. (2016). Understanding the effects of technology acceptance in nursing faculty: A hierarchical regression. *Online Journal of Nursing Informatics, 20*(2), 11. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- TechTarget. (2016). Learning management system definition. Retrieved from http://searchcio.techtarget.com/definition/learning-management-system
- Thurber, B., Pope, J., & Meshkaty, S. (2012, October). Faculty use of course management systems: A continuing report. In *e-learn: World Conference on E-Learning in Corporate, Government, Healthcare, and Higher Education* (Vol. 2012, No. 1, pp. 1588-1595). Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Travis, J., & Rutherford, G. (2012). Administrative support of faculty preparation and interactivity in online teaching: Factors in student success. In *National Forum of Educational Administration & Supervision Journal 30*, (1). Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Trochim, W. & Donnelly, J. (2008). *The research methods knowledge base*. OH: Cengage Learning.

- Vaill, A. L., & Testori, P. A. (2012). Orientation, mentoring and ongoing support: A three-tiered approach to online faculty development. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 16(2), 111-119. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Vanderbilt University. (2016). Course management system definition. Retrieved from https://cft.vanderbilt.edu/guides-sub-pages/course-management-systems/
- Walker, D., Lindner, J., Murphrey, T. & Dooley, K. (2016). Learning management systems usage. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education: Volume 17# 2, 17*(2), 41-50. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Wickersham, L., & McElhany, J. (2010). Bridging the divide. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 11(1), 1-12. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases
- Willis, J. (2015). Examining Technology and Teaching Efficacy of Pre-service
 Teacher Candidates: A Deliberate Course Design Model. *Current Issues in Education*, 18(3). Retrieved from Academic Search Premier databases

Appendix A: Survey Questions

Purpose

The purpose of this proposed study is to address the gap in literature regarding nurse faculty perspectives on support and self-efficacy levels regarding the utilization of Learning Management Systems (LMSs) technology. The information collected in this survey will be analyzed using central tendency. From the information gathered, baseline knowledge of what level of support is felt on the part of the faculty and additional research can be gathered. This information may help uncover implementations that can change/improve the levels of self-efficacy for the faculty, if warranted.

Survey

A survey using a Survey Monkey link will be emailed to prospective participants to 6 select Southeastern Pennsylvania nursing programs. A minimum of 15-30 responses is desired for the critical case sample.

Self-Efficacy and Support of Nursing Faculty Regarding the Use of Learning Management Systems in Nursing Education

This proposed research purpose is to identify technology support and self-efficacy levels for nurse faculty utilizing LMSs.

Basic Demographic questions:

Age of Faculty: Under 35 36-45 46-55 56-65 Over 65

Identify yourself as: Male Female

Length of time in years teaching nursing: Less than 5 5-10 10-20 20-30 Greater than 30

Answer the following questions based on the scale of 1-6: 1-Very low 2-Low 3-Somewhat low 4-Somewhat high 5-High 6- Very high

1. When faced with a challenge, you would consider yourself as someone that can master most anything:

	1	2	3	4	5	$\Box \epsilon$
--	---	---	---	---	---	-----------------

- 2. You consider yourself someone that invests deeply in projects or activities in which interest you:
 1 2 3 4 5 6
- 3. The commitment level is strong for projects and activities that interest you: $1 \quad 2 \quad 3 \quad 4 \quad 5 \quad 6$

- 4. Rate your overall level of self-efficacy, or your belief in your ability, regarding the use of LMSs.
 1 2 3 4 5 6
- 5. What amount of training would you say you received on utilizing LMSs? None 1-5 hours 6-10 hours 11-15hours 16-20hours 21-25hours

□>25hours

6. How would you correlate your level of self-efficacy to amount of the LMSs training you received?

4 🛛 5 🖾 6

- 7. How much more LMSs training would you like?
 None 1-5 hours 6-10 hours 11-15hours 16-20hours 21-25hours
- 8. How much time of your time is spent productively using the LMSs?
 None 1-5 hours 6-10 hours 11-15hours 16-20hours 21-25hours
- 9. What level of comfort do you have uploading documents to the LMSs? $1 \quad 2 \quad 3 \quad 4 \quad 5 \quad 6$
- 10. What overall level of support do you feel from your institution regarding use of LMSs?
 1 2 3 4 5 6
- 11. How would you rate the amount of time spent by your institution in supporting you in the utilization of LMSs?
 - $\Box 1 \quad \Box 2 \quad \Box 3 \quad \Box 4 \quad \Box 5 \quad \Box 6$
- 12. How would you rate the faculty development program provided by your institution regarding the technology of LMSs?
 1 2 3 4 5 6

2	3	4	5	

13. You consider your age as a factor in your level of self-efficacy utilizing the LMSs:

1	2	3	4	5	$\Box 6$

1

14. How would you rate the usefulness of the LMSs?

	102
ino	r

, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
$\square 2 \square 3 \square 4 \square 5$	6

15. How important would you say the LMSs are to the instruction of nursing students?

]1	$\square 2$	3	_4	5 [6

- 16. What is the likelihood you would attend regular workshops on increasing skill levels using LMSs if the institution provided it?

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
- 17. If you attended workshops or regular training on LMSs, what amount of increase do you think your self-efficacy level would raise?

$ \boxed{1} \ \boxed{2} \ \boxed{3} \ \boxed{4} \ \boxed{5} \ \boxed{6} $					
	1	3	4	5	6

Appendix B: Interview

Interview Method

Follow-up interviews will be conducted via telephone, which will be approximately 30-45 minutes in length.

Follow-up Interview

From the perspective of nursing educators who have implemented LMSs:

- 1. Identify the type LMSs technology that you have implemented online. (Blackboard, Chat forums, Discussion boards, Wikis)
- 2. Describe the type (s) of LMS technology elements you have implemented when teaching online.
- 3. What types of LMS elements seem to work best for you?
- 4. How did you use the LMS within your course(s)?
- 5. Explain what programs, if any, are in place at your facility that supports the use of the LMSs technology being implemented.
- 6. What is your stated level of self-efficacy utilizing LMSs?

I am requesting your cooperation in the data collection process as part of my dissertation study at Walden University. I propose to collect data via email link using Survey Monkey, of a survey to nursing faculty at your institution, along with interview of selected faculty.

The purpose of my study is to understand the connection between Learning Management Systems (LMSs) technology support for nursing faculty and self-efficacy levels in using LMSs within their teaching. In reviewing the literature about nursing faculty's use of the technology, I found that there have been limited studies.

If you agree with the potential value of this study, I would then ask that you forward a letter invitation for the survey and interviews to your nursing faculty. Faculty can respond directly to me via email, and I will then send them a consent to participate. Once consented, a link to the survey using Survey Monkey will be provided for participants. Data will be instantly tabulated in Survey Monkey. Selected participants (4), across all participating program, would then be invited to complete an interview.

If you prefer not to be involved in this study, I will understand. If circumstances change, please contact me via XXXXXXX@XXXXXXXX Thank you for your consideration. I would be pleased to share the results of this study with you after completion of the study.

My IRB approval letter will be sent to you with the request to invite your faculty. I am requesting that you reply to this email by signing below, "I agree" in the signature line. This will document that you are interested in supporting this data collection within your nursing program.

Please send this entire document back to me as proof of cooperation.

Sincerely, Diane Burling Educational Technology PhD Candidate

I agree to include the nursing faculty from ______nursing program in the study identified. Name: Title: Date: Electronic signatures are regulated by the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. Legally, an "electronic signature" can be the person's typed name, their email address, or any other identifying marker. An electronic signature is just as valid as a written signature if both parties have agreed to conduct the transaction electronically.

Appendix D: Widener University Letter of Cooperation

I am requesting your cooperation in the data collection process as part of my dissertation study at Walden University. I propose to collect data via email link using Survey Monkey, of a survey to nursing faculty at your institution, along with interview of selected faculty.

The purpose of my study is to understand the connection between Learning Management Systems (LMSs) technology support for nursing faculty and self-efficacy levels in using LMSs within their teaching. In reviewing the literature about nursing faculty's use of the technology, I found that there have been limited studies.

If you agree with the potential value of this study, I would contact your faculty directly with your permission to do so. Faculty can respond directly to me via email, and I will then send them a consent to participate. Once consented, a link to the survey using Survey Monkey will be provided for participants. Data will be instantly tabulated in Survey Monkey. Selected participants (4), across all participating program, would then be invited to complete an interview.

If you prefer not to be involved in this study, I will understand.

Thank you for your consideration. I would be pleased to share the results of this study with you after completion of the study.

My IRB approval letter will be sent to your faculty with an invitation to participate. I am requesting that you reply to this email by signing below, "I agree" in the signature line. This will document that you are supportive of direct contact of nursing faculty within your nursing program.

Pease send this entire document back to me as proof of cooperation.

Sincerely, Diane Burling Educational Technology PhD Candidate

The faculty at Nursing Widener University may be contacted independently for this study.

Name:	
Title:	
Date:	

Electronic signatures are regulated by the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. Legally, an "electronic signature" can be the person's typed name, their email address, or any

other identifying marker. An electronic signature is just as valid as a written signature if both parties have agreed to conduct the transaction electronically.

Appendix E: Invitation to Participate in Research Study

I am requesting your cooperation in the data collection process as part of my dissertation study at Walden University. I propose to collect data via email link using Survey Monkey, along with interview of selected nursing faculty across 5 separate institutions.

The purpose of my study is to understand the connection between Learning Management Systems (LMSs) technology support for nursing faculty and self-efficacy levels in using LMSs within your teaching. In reviewing the literature about nursing faculty's use of the technology, I found that there have been limited studies.

If you agree with the potential value of this study, I would then ask that you respond to this email and I will forward a consent for the survey and potential interview. You may send consents directly to me via email listed below. Once consented, a link to the survey using Survey Monkey will be provided to you. Data will be instantly tabulated in Survey Monkey.

If you prefer not to be involved in this study, I will understand.

If circumstances change, please contact me via XXXXXXXXXX@XXXXXXXXXX

Thank you for your consideration. I would be pleased to share the results of this study with you after completion of the study.

Sincerely,

Diane Burling

Educational Technology PhD Candidate

On _____ (date survey sent), you were sent a link to a Survey Monkey on a research study being performed by Walden University student, Diane Burling.

If you have not yet done so, this is a reminder to please complete the survey. The link to the survey is provide here:

(Survey Monkey link)

Thank you for your cooperation in the study.

Sincerely,

Diane Burling Email: XXXXXXX@XXXXXXXXX

Phone: XXX-XXX-XXXX